Investigating Human Impacts to Coral Reefs in the Republic of the Marshall Islands

by

Sara E. Cannon

B.Sc., The University of California Santa Cruz, 2014

A THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF

THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

MASTER OF SCIENCE

in

THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE AND POSTDOCTORAL STUDIES

(Geography)

THE UNIVERSITY OF BRITISH COLUMBIA

(Vancouver)

August 2017

© Sara E. Cannon, 2017

Abstract

Both local and global threats are affecting the health of coral reefs worldwide. In addition to endangering the livelihoods and source of food for millions of people, threats to coral reefs may result in flattening reefs, which reduce habitat complexity and the ability of reefs to protect shorelines from erosion. This could be particularly detrimental to low-lying Pacific atolls like those found in the Republic of the Marshall Islands (RMI). I examined the influence of local human disturbance and heat stress on coral and algal community composition in Majuro and Arno Atolls in the RMI to explore how human disturbance affects coral and algal communities, and how to best characterize those communities. With a population of approximately 30,000 people, Majuro is home to the largest population of all of the RMI's 29 atolls and underwent extensive human modifications after American occupation during World War II. By contrast, Arno is home to fewer than 2,000 people and has remained relatively undisturbed. In June of 2016, I conducted benthic surveys at 25 sites along a gradient of human impacts across the two atolls. At each site at 10m depth, I measured percent cover of coral and algae genera and size-frequency of coral. I also utilized limited historical data to explore how reefs had recovered after a thermal stress event in 2014. In order to estimate human disturbance, I used the mean normalized difference vegetation index (NDVI) of the nearby coastline, which measures vegetation intensity. The coral and macroalgae composition of sites differed by atoll, mean NDVI, and wind and wave exposure, but not by sea surface temperature. The most degraded sites had low macroalgae cover and were dominated by turf algae, sponges, and cyanobacteria. One genus of macroalgae, Halimeda, was associated with sites that had low disturbance, while another, Hypnea, was correlated with higher disturbance. These results suggest that using macroalgae

ii

as an indicator of degradation may mask the influence of local human disturbance on reef community composition. Instead, it is important to consider identifying other indicator taxa and to measure coral and macroalgae cover to at least the genus level.

Lay Summary

This project aims to understand how humans influence the coral reefs surrounding two atolls, Arno and Majuro, in the Republic of the Marshall Islands (RMI), by measuring differences in the lifeforms composing and growing on the reefs. Majuro Atoll is the capital of the RMI and home to over half of the country's approximately 53,000 people, and the coral reefs are subject to a number of human-related threats, such as sediment from construction and overfishing. Arno Atoll, located just 19 km away, has a population of approximately 2,000 and is undisturbed in comparison. The close proximity of the two atolls allowed me to compare the species living on the reefs while controlling for other variables like ocean conditions. Understanding how people affect the reefs will help managers make decisions about how to protect them in the future, especially in the context of climate change.

Preface

I was the lead investigator for this project and was responsible for all major areas of data collection and analysis, as well as the composition of the thesis. I worked closely with my advisor, Dr. Simon Donner of the University of British Columbia's (UBC) Department of Geography, through each step in the research process, including concept formation. I performed all of the data analysis with the guidance of Donner, who also assisted with 2016's data collection in the field (which required at least two people to complete). Both Donner and the other faculty member on my committee, Jennifer Williams of UBC Geography, contributed to edits of the thesis, although I was solely responsible for its composition.

This work makes use of historical data collected by other researchers. Specifically, benthic surveys from Majuro in 2014 were supplied by Maria Beger, Douglas Fenner, Daniela Ceccarelli, and Tyson Martin. Funding for their work was provided by the Winifred Violet Scott Estate Fund, a grant to Don Hess at the College of the Marshall Islands, Maria Beger and Eric Peterson at the University of Queensland, and the Australian Research Council Centre for Excellence for Environmental Decisions. I also utilized data provided by the Marshall Islands Marine Resources Authority from Arno Atoll in 2007, and photos from one site in Majuro were provided by Karl Fellenius of Hawaii Sea Grant and Martin Romain from the College of the Marshall Islands. None of these data have been published.

Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
Lay Summary	iv
Preface	V
Гаble of Contents	vi
List of Tables	viii
List of Figures	ix
List of Acronyms	X
Acknowledgements	xi
Dedication	xiii
Chapter 1: Literature Review	1
1.1 Global Threats	1
1.1.1 Climate Change	2
1.1.2 Ocean Acidification	6
1.2 Local Threats	7
1.2.1 Overfishing	7
1.2.2 Nutrients	9
1.2.3 Sedimentation	10
1.3 Coral Reefs in the Marshall Islands	11
1.4 Research Summary and Objectives	14
Chapter 2: Body of Thesis	17
2.1 Introduction	17
2.2 Methods	21
	V1

2.2.1	Background
2.2.2	Study Sites
2.2.3	Survey Methods
2.2.4	Human Disturbance
2.2.5	Oceanographic Data
2.2.6	Data Analysis
2.3 I	Results
2.3.1	Benthic Cover
2.3.2	Coral Size Structure
2.3.3	Comparison with Previous Surveys
2.4 I	Discussion
2.5	Conclusion
Chapter 3:	Future Implications
Bibliograph	y59
Appendices.	
	Appendix A List of sites with GPS coordinates76
	Appendix B NDVI by site
	Appendix C Shannon-Weaver diversity indices
	Appendix D Coral size data by coral category for each atoll
	Appendix E Size frequency by atoll
	Appendix F Size frequency values by site
	Appendix G Sea surface temperature statistics by site for the bleaching year, June
	2014 through July 2015 (where SST is in degrees Celsius)

List of Tables

Table 1: PERMANOVA of drivers of benthic composition (significant values are
underlined)
Table 2: Results of simple linear regressions of NDVI and relative abundance of benthic taxa
across all sites in Majuro and Arno Atolls (values significant at the 0.05 level are
underlined)
Table 3: Kolmogorov-Smirnov (ks) test results comparing across atolls, with Bonferroni
correction. Significant results are underlined
Table 4: Results of Welch's ANOVA of size-frequency statistics between atolls, where mean
is the mean size in centimeters, the numerator degrees of freedom equals 1.00 for all tests,
and df is the denominator degrees of freedom. Significant results are underlined. P. rus was
not included because it was only observed at one site in Arno, so I did not have enough
observations for this test
Table 5: Benthic cover in Majuro Atoll in 2014 and 2016 surveys. Significant results are
underlined
Table 6: Change in benthic cover in Arno Atoll since previous available surveys. Significant
results are underlined
Table 7: RMI study sites, together with sites of previous observations in Kiribati, on a matrix
of SST variability and human disturbance

List of Figures

Figure 1: Map of the RMI and study site locations
Figure 2: Example of calculating NDVI for site Maj02 using ArcMap 10.4.1
Figure 3: Percent cover of (a) key benthic categories and (b) live coral at each study site 32
Figure 4: From Maj02, (a) <i>T. hoshinota</i> covering a table of <i>Acropora</i> sp., (b) Zoomed-in
view of T. hoshinota, (c) T. hoshinota and cyanobacteria growing on a branching Acropora
sp
Figure 5: Quartile plots of coral size for major coral categories across both Arno and Majuro
Atolls, where the lower and upper hinges correspond with the first and third quartiles, the
center line represents the median, and the whiskers indicate 95% confidence intervals.
Porites rus was omitted due to the low number of observations in Arno
Figure 6: Examples of size frequency distributions in Arno versus Majuro, where (a) is
Acropora in Majuro, (b) Acropora in Arno, (c) massive Porites in Majuro, and (d) massive
Porites in Arno
Figure 7: Map of the southern RMI and the northern Gilbert Islands of Kiribati

List of Acronyms

- ANOVA Analysis of Variance
- CCA Crustose coralline algae
- DHW Degree heating weeks
- FSM Federated States of Micronesia
- IPCC Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
- MIMRA Marshall Islands Marine Resources Authority
- NDVI Normalized Difference Vegetation Index
- OIFMC Outer Island Fish Market Center
- PerMANOVA Permutational Multivariate Analysis of Variance
- SPC Secretariat of the Pacific
- SST Sea Surface Temperature

Acknowledgements

I am fortunate to have many people to thank for the success of my Master of Science project, starting with my advisor, Dr. Simon Donner of the University of British Columbia's Geography department, whose patient assistance, support, and mentorship made this work possible. I am enormously grateful for his guidance. I would also like to acknowledge Dr. Jennifer Williams of UBC Geography for her invaluable council while planning this project and for reading and editing my thesis. I also owe thanks to Leonora King and Wesley Skeeter of UBC Geography for assisting me with ArcGIS and Eric Leinberger for his help with mapping.

Huge thanks go to our collaborators Diana Thompson and Emma Reed at Boston University. I am also grateful to our local collaborators, particularly Florence Edwards, Emma Tibon, Kalena deBrum, Benedict Yamamura and the rest of the team at the Marshall Islands Marine Resources Authority in the RMI, and Karl Fellenius of Hawaii Sea Grant and Martin Romain from the College of the Marshall Islands.

I would like to acknowledge Maria Beger, Douglas Fenner, Daniela Ceccarelli, and Tyson Martin for sharing data they collected in Majuro in 2014. Funding for their work was provided by the Winifred Violet Scott Estate Fund, a grant to Don Hess at the College of the Marshall Islands, Maria Beger and Eric Peterson at the University of Queensland, and the Australian Research Council Centre for Excellence for Environmental Decisions. Thanks to Peter Houk with the University of Guam and James Reimer with the University of the Ryukyus for their advice and counsel. I would also like to recognize the team at the NOAA Coral Reef Watch, particularly Gang Liu, for providing us with sea surface temperature data for our sites.

I am enormously thankful for the guidance of Tamara Greenstone Alefaio of UBC and the University of the South Pacific Majuro Campus, who provided invaluable assistance with organizing the logistics for this project, her instruction in respecting the *manit* (culture) of the Marshall Islands, and her unwavering support and friendship ever since.

Last but not least, thanks to my mother, Dana Cannon, for the myriad of ways she has supported me, most specifically for providing child care while I was in the Marshall Islands, and to my son, Daniel Lemmon, for his unwavering faith in me, his much-needed distractions, and for constantly making me laugh.

Dedication

This work is dedicated to the memory of my late father, Michael Patrick Cannon (1949 – 2014), who shared his love of the ocean with me when I was a young child and always encouraged me to follow my dreams. His memory and influence are gifts for which I will always be grateful.

Chapter 1: Literature Review

Coral reefs are one of the world's most diverse ecosystems (Connell 1978). More than 100 countries have coastlines with coral reefs (Moberg and Folke 1999), and approximately 10% of the world's population live within 100 km of a reef (Donner and Potere 2007). Coral reefs provide livelihoods to millions of people, the majority of which live in developing countries (Cinner 2014). They also protect vulnerable coastlines from erosion by reducing wave energy an average of 97%, with the reef crest alone responsible for reducing 86% of wave energy (Ferrario et al. 2014). A recent study estimated that coral reefs generate US\$35.8 billion annually in tourism expenditures (Spalding et al. 2017).

Decades of research show that the health of coral reefs is declining worldwide (Richmond 1993; Hughes 1994; Aswani et al. 2015; I.D. Williams et al. 2015). They are threatened by both global impacts (such as climate change and ocean acidification) and local impacts (such as overfishing, sedimentation, and eutrophication). In addition to threatening livelihoods and sources of food, many of these threats can kill coral and may result in flattening reefs, which reduce habitat complexity and reduce the ability of reefs to protect shorelines (Alvarez-Filip et al. 2009; Ferrario et al. 2014). Additionally, the potentially additive properties of each impact means that corals may be less able to recover from natural impacts like storms (Scheffer et al. 2015).

1.1 Global Threats

The people who depend most heavily on coral reefs for their livelihoods and sustenance tend to be those in small island nations like the Republic of the Marshall Islands (RMI) (NOAA 1995). Scientists around the world are working urgently to find ways that reefs can be protected from climate change (e.g. Donner et al. 2005; Carpenter et al. 2008; Graham et al. 2013; Scheffer et al. 2015), but it is integral that industrialized nations take action to reduce emissions (Kleypas and Yates 2009; van Woesik et al. 2015). While these efforts may slow the impacts of climate change, researchers are unsure if they will be reversible or if corals will be able to adapt.

1.1.1 Climate Change

When ocean temperatures are higher than the threshold for corals, they will bleach, which is a stress response by which corals expel their zooxanthellae, symbiotic algae that live inside the cytoplasm of a coral polyp (Gates et al. 1992). This makes most corals appear white (hence the term "bleached"). Bleached corals can survive for up to a few weeks without their zooxanthellae, but the symbiotic algae will not return until the source of the stress ends. If the algae is unable to return for several weeks, the coral will die (Glynn 1983). Temperatures only 1-2° C higher than the usual maximum summer temperature are enough to induce coral bleaching (Coles et al. 1976). Sea temperatures have been rising for the past century, and are projected to continue to rise (IPCC 2014). Scientists project that this, coupled with stronger and more regular El Niño events which also produce warmer-than-average sea surface temperatures, will likely cause corals to bleach more often (Donner et al. 2005) and may also reduce their ability to recover from previous bleaching events and other sources of stress (Hughes et al. 2007; Carpenter et al. 2008; Toth et al. 2015).

In Majuro Atoll, historical air temperature data records show that average daily temperatures have increased by approximately 0.15° C per decade beginning in 1956 while sea surface temperature (SST) has increased by approximately 0.07°C per decade. Both mean air temperatures and SST are projected to rise in the future; under the lowest emissions scenario from the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPPC), the surface air temperature in the southern Marshalls is projected to rise from 0.4 to 0.9 C between 2020 - 2039, with closely related SST likely increasing a similar amount (PACCSAP 2011). In 2014, the RMI underwent the most extensive thermal stress event in its recorded history. Abnormally high sea surface temperatures from July through December 2014 led to Bleaching Alert Level II warnings (expectations of widespread bleaching and some mortality) from NOAA Coral Reef Watch for the entire country, although heat stress was not as high in the southern Marshalls, including Majuro and Arno Atolls (Coral Reef Watch 2017). A report to NOAA Coral Reef Watch based on limited observations largely from Majuro, but also some observations from Arno, Kwajalein, and Namdrik Atolls, reported that "on average threequarters of all shallow digitate corals are dead, two-thirds of all table corals, half of all submassives other than *Porites rus*, and maybe one quarter of all massive and encrusting corals" (Fellenius 2014).

Corals in areas with higher annual temperature fluctuations are more resistant to bleaching (Donner 2011), and scientists are currently investigating why this is. Combining this study with work being done by Donner in Kiribati (see: Donner 2007) will help to answer this question. At least in some cases, the zooxanthellae that return to the corals after bleaching are a different, more resilient strain than those living in the coral prior to bleaching (Berkelmans

and van Oppen 2006). Other proposed mechanisms include shifting benthic communities, in which some resilient species of corals outcompete other, more sensitive species (Darling et al. 2013), and physiological acclimation (Ateweberhan and McClanahan 2010). Understanding what makes some corals more resilient to bleaching could be critical to finding potential ways that corals could adapt to increasing ocean temperatures. Scientists may also be able to use a new understanding of temperature dynamics in resilient corals to develop new mitigation techniques. In Hawaii, for example, scientists are currently attempting to grow a new genetically engineered species of coral that they hope will be more resilient to high temperatures and acidity (Van Oppen and Gates 2006; Putnam and Gates 2015).

While sea level has been rising since the last ice age (Lambeck and Chappell 2001), increasing atmospheric and oceanic temperatures after the industrial revolution have caused ice sheets to melt, contributing to an unprecedented rate of sea level rise (IPCC 2014). Since the zooxanthellae in coral tissues are photosynthetic, they are dependent on light and are unable to photosynthesize past a certain depth (which depends on water quality and irradiance) (Goldberg 2013). If reefs are unable to grow fast enough to keep up with rising sea levels, they will die. A recent modeling study indicates that *Porites* microatolls, large, massive species that grow in shallow lagoons, may grow fast enough to keep up with current rates of sea level rise in the Pacific, but if atmospheric gas concentrations continue to increase (past 670 ppm by the year 2100), sea level rise will outpace coral growth (van Woesik et al. 2015).

Rising sea levels pose a serious threat to the low-lying islands in the RMI, which have been subject to wave inundation events, ranging from minor to severe (Davenport and Haner 2015). There are a number of governmental agencies and international NGOs working together on outreach and training projects in the RMI in an attempt to warn citizens of the dangers of inundation events and mitigate future risk (White et al. 2015). In 2011, sea level rise in Majuro Atoll was occurring at 3.3 ± 0.4 mm per year, and based on empirical modeling, mean sea level is projected to rise between approximately 7 – 18 cm by 2030, with increases of 23 – 60 cm by 2090 under the lowest IPCC emissions scenario (PACCSAP 2014).

Increasing sea surface temperatures have also been linked to higher intensity extreme weather events, such as hurricanes in the Atlantic and typhoons in the Pacific (Easterling et al. 2000). While storms are natural, they can damage corals, which can allow algae to thrive in the absence of herbivory due to overfishing (Hughes 1994; Stimson et al. 2001; Hughes et al. 2007). When storms occur more often and at stronger intensities, reefs that are already stressed by climate change, diseases, and local factors may be less able to recover. In addition, increasing duration and intensity of storms could contribute to increased erosion, threatening small island nations like the RMI that are already vulnerable to rising sea levels, yet another symptom of climate change.

1.1.2 Ocean Acidification

The pH of the ocean is decreasing as carbon dioxide (CO_2) in the atmosphere rises and becomes sequestered in the oceans. The acidification process has changed the saturation state of the oceans with respect to calcium carbonate $(CaCO_3)$ particles (Feely et al. 2004), which comprise the skeletons of corals and the structure of coral reefs. One study predicted that a doubling of pre-industrial atmospheric CO_2 would cause a 40% reduction in coral calcification, leading to less diverse reef communities and weakened reef structures (Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2008). Field experiments support that ocean acidification has a negative effect on the calcification of most coral species and can therefore lead to slower growth rates (Kroeker et al. 2010; Edmunds et al. 2013). Unfortunately, it is highly unlikely that ocean acidification can be reversed, and currently unknown whether corals have the capacity to adapt (Kleypas and Yates 2009).

Aragonite is the polymorph of CaCO₃ that is produced by stony corals and some green algae (Goldberg 2013). Research suggests that an aragonite saturation state above 4.0 is optimal for coral growth and the development of healthy reef systems (Guinotte et al. 2003). In the RMI, the aragonite saturation state declined from about 4.5 in the late 18^{th} century to an observed value of about 3.9 ± 0.1 by 2000. Aragonite saturation rates are projected to decrease through 2100. Climate models predict that by 2035, the annual maximum aragonite saturation state for the RMI will reach values below 3.5, the lowest saturation level considered adequate for coral growth (Guinotte et al. 2003), and will continue to decline, suggesting that coral reefs in the RMI will be vulnerable to dissolution as they will be unable to produce the calcium carbonate necessary to form their skeletons. The effects of ocean acidification on coral reef

ecosystems will likely be compounded by other stressors, including climate change and fishing pressure (PACCSAP 2014). Slower coral calcification and reef growth combined with reef dissolution would reduce the ability of reefs to protect islands from erosion, particularly in the context of more intense tropical storms and rising seas.

1.2 Local Threats

Reefs in the RMI, particularly those close to population centers like the Delap-Uliga-Djarrot ("D-U-D") in Majuro, are also affected by local impacts, which are those that can be managed by local resource users and managers. The ways that local impacts affect coral reefs depends on the features of the specific reef in question, including flushing rates and currents, proximity to human settlements, morphometry, bottom topography, and coral species composition. It is therefore vital that plans for the management of coral reefs be specifically tailored to the areas in question. What is detrimental to one reef may have less of an impact to another due to the specific features of each reef. Unlike climate change, each of these impacts could be reversible with local management.

1.2.1 Overfishing

Overfishing is almost uniformly considered the greatest local threat facing coral reefs worldwide, and scientists have found that overfishing herbivorous fishes on reefs may be particularly problematic. A number of studies have shown that when herbivores are removed from a reef, feeding pressure on turf algae is reduced, allowing it to grow unchecked and become larger, leafy macroalgae (Randall 1961; Lewis 1986; Mumby 2006), which can kill coral by a number of mechanisms, both chemical and physical (McCook 1999). Macroalgae

also outcompete crustose coralline algae (CCA), a pink encrusting algae that is important for facilitating the settlement of coral larvae (Björk et al. 1995; Arnold et al. 2010). Overfishing or death of herbivores (invertebrates and fishes) has been linked to phase shifts from coral-dominated ecosystems to those dominated by macroalgae, particularly in the Caribbean (Hughes 1994; Hughes et al. 2007). Herbivorous fish populations (coupled with habitat complexity) also play an important role in the ways that coral reefs respond to nutrient influxes (Szmant 1997).

Overfishing of predators may also be deleterious for coral reefs, although its impacts have been less studied. Most coral reef fisheries tend to focus on larger predatory fishes (Myers and Worm 2005), and overfishing of piscivores may lead to trophic cascades (when predators in a food web suppress the abundance of their prey or impact their behavior) (Stallings 2008). In the absence of predators, herbivores may overgraze the turf algae (Randall 1961), which has harmful effects on the resilience of the ecosystem as a whole. If a reef has high densities of herbivores but few piscivores, there may be more coral, but the lack of functional group diversity will make the system less resilient to disturbances (Houk and Musburger 2013).

A number of studies have linked overfishing of predators to widespread outbreaks of the crown-of-thorns starfish, *Acanthaster planci*, in the Indo-Pacific (e.g. Dulvy et al. 2004; Kayal et al. 2012). Crown-of-thorns feed on corals, and in high numbers they can decimate coral reefs. There have been numerous outbreaks of *A. planci* since the early 2000s (Kayal et al. 2012), including in Majuro and Arno Atolls (F. Edwards, personal communication).

1.2.2 Nutrients

Nutrients on coral reefs, along with fishing, have long been considered one of the controlling factors of reef health (Richmond 1993). Indeed, in some cases, high influxes of nutrients from human activities on land have been linked to overgrowth of macroalgae. The most studied example of this was in Kanoehe Bay, Hawaii, where one particular species of algae, *Dictyosphaeria cavernosa*, grew over and replaced corals beginning in the 1960s (Laws and Redalje 1982; Evans et al. 1986). Human sewage had been dumped directly into the bay for approximately 25 years before two of the outfalls were finally diverted in 1978. The last sewage outfall was diverted in 1986 (Hunter and Evans 1995).

After the diversion of the sewage outfalls, the algae decreased significantly (Laws and Redalje 1982; Evans et al. 1986). By 1983, the algae had decreased to one fourth of its previous abundance, indicating that nutrients from the sewage played a major role in its growth (Evans et al. 1986). *D. cavernosa* in Kaneohe Bay have since rebounded at some sites (Hunter and Evans 1995), and blooms have been linked to recent rainfall events, which supports the nutrient hypothesis because rainstorms flush nutrients from farming and other human activities into the bay (Jokiel et al. 1993).

More recent studies have begun to question the nutrient hypothesis and instead suggest that herbivory controls the growth of *D. cavernosa* in Kaneohe Bay, and the blooms were caused by overfishing of herbivores (Stimson et al. 2001). Field studies and laboratory experiments suggest that nutrients play a very small role in the growth of many algae and do little to directly harm the health of corals (McCook 1999; Fabricius et al. 2005; Wolanski and De'ath

2005). Most scientists now agree that while nutrients can contribute to the growth of algae, this is only significant in the absence of herbivores (Szmant 1997; Burkepile and Hay 2006).

Nutrients from land-use practices like farming may harm corals in indirect ways. For example, in Australia, outbreaks of *A. plasti* ("Crown-of-Thorns" starfish) have been linked to nutrients from land-use practices like agriculture, challenging the hypothesis that outbreaks are caused by overfishing of predators (Brodie et al. 2005; Wolanski and De'ath 2005). Land-use practices are less able to explain *A. plasti* outbreaks in the RMI or similar Pacific Islands where there is only enough land for subsistence agriculture (Faechem and Bayliss-Smith 1977), providing evidence that overfishing may contribute to outbreaks in these areas. However, in Majuro, untreated sewage is concentrated and pumped from an outfall pipe that has corroded and leaked sewage directly onto the reef flat (MIMRA 2016).

1.2.3 Sedimentation

Sedimentation can be caused by any human activities that free up sediments that are then washed into the ocean. Major contributors include deforestation, agriculture, development, and dredging. Because mangroves play a major role in trapping sediments from land, coastal developments that remove mangroves also induce sedimentation (Rogers 1990; Richmond 1993). This can smother corals by covering them in soil and preventing them from feeding or preventing the zooxanthellae from photosynthesizing (Weber et al. 2012). Sediments in the water column also increase turbidity, which impacts photosynthesis because light is unable to penetrate as deeply in waters with a lot of suspended sediment (Rogers 1990;

Weber et al. 2012). Sediments can also cover the benthic substrate, preventing coral larvae from settling (Rogers 1990).

Corals have various mechanisms to remove sediments. Some corals produce a surface film of mucous that helps them shed sediments; others use tentacles or cilia to manually remove them (Hubbard and Pocock 1972). These mechanisms allow corals to respond to occasional sedimentation, but they are slow and energetically costly (Hubbard and Pocock 1972; Lasker 1980), and corals exposed to a lot of sediment in a short period of time may be less resilient to other stressors. In Majuro, an artificial channel was built to connect the lagoon and the ocean between Majuro Wharf and the east part of Rairok in the 1980s (Xue 2001). Also, dredging the reef flat to provide aggregate for a controversial expansion of the airport runway began in 2011 (Johnson 2012 Mar 15; RMIPA 2013) and is still under way today. Both of these activities increased sedimentation on nearby reefs. If the land-use practices leading to sedimentation are stopped or if mitigation techniques are put in place to prevent runoff, in many cases, reefs can recover from sedimentation (Brown et al. 1990).

1.3 Coral Reefs in the Marshall Islands

The RMI have been inhabited for approximately 3,000 years (Ratzel 1896). The people who live in the RMI depend heavily on coral reefs for food (fishing is a major source of sustenance), and the reefs protect the low-lying islands from rising sea levels and storm surges (Pinca et al. 2005). Coral reefs in the RMI are threatened by both global and local impacts. Majuro Atoll, the capital of the RMI and home to over half of the country's approximately 53,000 people (Secretariat of the Pacific Community 2012), was subjected to

extensive modifications and population growth after its occupation by the American military during World War II (Spennemann 1996). Reefs in Majuro especially are subject to coastal management challenges brought about by population growth, waste generation, and shoreline construction.

Over the past few decades, immigration from outer atolls and a high birth rate has increased the population density, especially in the eastern population center of the D-U-D, where an American army base was built during World War II (Spennemann 1996; Secretariat of the Pacific Community 2012). In the 1970s, a series of causeways were built to connect the islands of Djarrit and Laura in Majuro, which interrupted water flow from the lagoon to the ocean and contributed to erosion within the lagoon. An artificial channel was built to connect the lagoon and the ocean between Majuro Wharf and the east part of Rairok in the 1980s (Xue 2001). Commercial dredging for aggregate used in construction (particularly of the airport) was common throughout the eastern coast of Majuro through at least the early 2000s, inducing erosion and interrupting sediment supply (Xue 2001). More recently, in 2011 a controversial expansion of the airport runway began, using material dredged from the reef flat (Johnson 2012 Mar 15; RMIPA 2013). In addition to threatening livelihoods and sources of food, sediment pollution, nutrient pollution, reef mining and other local disturbances can kill coral and may result in flattening reefs, which reduce habitat complexity and reduce the ability of reefs to protect shorelines (Alvarez-Filip et al. 2009; Ferrario et al. 2014). Additionally, the potentially additive properties of each impact means that corals may be less able to respond to natural impacts like storms (Scheffer et al. 2015).

Arno Atoll, located only about 19 km east of Majuro, has remained largely undisturbed by population growth and human modifications. The entire atoll, which is larger than Majuro in area, is home to less than 2,000 people, a number that is shrinking annually due to emigration to Majuro (Secretariat of the Pacific Community 2012). Because of the close proximity to Majuro, Arno is home to some fishing pressure by fishers who travel from Majuro, but this is almost entirely pelagic; access to reefs is controlled by the local *iroij* (chief). The Marshall Islands Marine Resources Authority (MIMRA) does sell fish from Arno and other outer island atolls (including reef fish), but reef fisheries are closely monitored for sustainability (Hess 1999).

In the RMI, people depend heavily on the reefs for food, particularly in Majuro, which has a high population density (Pinca et al. 2005; Secretariat of the Pacific Community 2012). While there is some reef fishing pressure in Arno, it is decidedly lower than that in Majuro, and closely monitored by the central government (Hess 1999). MIMRA runs the Outer Island Fish Market Center (OIFMC) on Majuro, which sells fish from Arno and other outer island atolls (including reef fish). The OIFMC is a sustainable development initiative that provides capital to fishers in the outer islands, while also providing sustenance for Majuro's growing population and reducing fishing pressure in Majuro. In 2015, the OIFMC received 33 small boatloads of fish (approximately 2,500 pounds each) from fishers in Arno Atoll (MIMRA 2015).

To date, only a few studies of the coral reefs have been conducted in this region (e.g. Pinca et al. 2005; Houk and Musburger 2013), and this is the first study to compare the health of the

reefs between the two adjacent atolls. This study provides information that is essential for the future protection of Majuro's and Arno's coral reefs. Because the two atolls are so close to each other (only 19 km apart), they experience similar oceanographic conditions, including sea surface temperatures. The physical similarities and close proximity of the atolls allowed comparison reef health across a gradient of human impacts, while controlling for some potential confounding factors.

1.4 Research Summary and Objectives

With 10% of the global population living within 100 kilometers or less of coral reefs, their health is intricately linked to the wellbeing of millions of people (Hassan et al. 2005). Reefs are also critical for the protection of vulnerable coastlines from erosion caused by waves (Ferrario et al. 2014), and scientists now estimate that one-third of reef-building corals face an elevated risk of extinction from the combination of climate change and local impacts (Carpenter et al. 2008). Many of the people who depend on coral reefs are in developing countries (Cinner 2007), suggesting that the people who most need the resources reefs provide are those that are contributing the least to global impacts such as climate change and ocean acidification. While it is vital that industrialized nations take swift action to curve emissions to limit these impacts, resource users and managers can take action to limit local threats to coral reefs (such as overfishing, excessive nutrients, and sedimentation). Protecting reefs from local disturbances may increase resilience to global impacts (Micheli et al. 2012; Mellin et al. 2016), essentially buying time for reefs and islands that are being threatened by climate change and rising sea levels. It is therefore of the utmost importance that scientists

work closely with managers and resource users to come up with innovative ways to protect reefs on a local scale.

The goal of this thesis was to provide information that would guide future research and conservation efforts, through three main objectives:

- To learn how human activities influenced the benthic composition of coral reefs and the size frequency of coral genera;
- To identify potential new indicators of reef degradation that may be more effective than those commonly used in recent studies (such as macroalgae as a single category);
- And, to understand how local degradation affects coral recovery from thermal stress events.

Arno and Majuro Atolls in the RMI presented an ideal location to investigate these objectives, providing a natural laboratory where the close proximity of the atolls and similarities in oceanographic conditions allowed me to compare reef health across a gradient of human impacts while reducing potential confounding factors. I measured the percent cover of coral and algae taxa and size-frequency distributions of coral genera at 25 sites, using the Normalized Difference Vegetation Index, which measures the intensity of vegetation, as a proxy for human influence. I used historical data from 2007 in Arno Atoll and 2014 in Majuro Atoll to investigate any differences in reef recovery after 2014's thermal stress event. The fieldwork for this research was undertaken during June and July 2016. The work was conducted in conjunction with Diane Thompson and Emma Reed from Boston University, who collected water samples and identified candidate corals for paleoclimate research. I also worked closely with MIMRA throughout this project, which provided invaluable assistance with logistics and site selection, and helped me to insure the work would provide information useful for marine resource management.

This work will provide information that can help to predict which reef environments are being most impacted by local threats, as well as which are most susceptible to the negative repercussions of climate change and warming ocean temperatures. The results could be extrapolated to other reefs in the region, providing information that could potentially help mitigate both local and global threats to reefs throughout Micronesia, where the high numbers of low-lying atolls makes communities uniquely vulnerable to rising sea levels. Also, identifying new metrics for identifying degraded reefs may change the current scientific paradigm about which reefs are considered 'healthy.' This will contribute to the ability of scientists to better identify reefs that would most benefit from protection.

Chapter 2: Body of Thesis

2.1 Introduction

Decades of research have shown that the health of coral reef ecosystems is declining worldwide (Richmond 1993; Hughes 1994; Aswani et al. 2015; G.J. Williams et al. 2015). They are threatened by both global impacts (such as climate change and ocean acidification) and local impacts (such as overfishing, sedimentation, and eutrophication). In addition to threatening the livelihoods and source of food for millions of people (Cinner 2014), many of these threats can kill coral and may result in flattening reefs, which reduces habitat complexity and the ability of reefs to protect shorelines (Alvarez-Filip et al. 2009; Ferrario et al. 2014). Additionally, the potentially additive properties of these impacts may make corals and coral reef ecosystems less resilient to natural disturbances like storms (Scheffer et al. 2015).

Global sea temperatures have been rising for the past century and are projected to continue to rise (IPCC 2014). Scientists predict that this will lead to more frequent and severe heat stress (Donner et al. 2005) leading to coral bleaching, coral mortality, and a reduced resilience to other stressors (Hughes et al. 2007; Carpenter et al. 2008; Toth et al. 2015). As a result, researchers are working hard to identify management actions that could confer coral reef resilience to climate change. Recently, there has been debate within the scientific community about the relative role of local human activities in coral reef degradation as compared to the global threat posed by climate change, with some scientists arguing local impacts play an important role (e.g. Fabricius et al. 2005; Scheffer et al. 2015; Williams et al. 2015; Crane et

al. 2017), and others contending their effects are negligible in comparison (e.g. Aronson and Precht 2006; Carpenter et al. 2008; Bruno and Valdivia 2016).

This debate/disagreement may in part stem from disagreements over the metrics of reef health, as well as the very definition of a healthy reef. Macroalgae cover is a commonly used indicator that reefs are 'unhealthy' or have a different benthic composition than what was found prior to disturbance (e.g. McCook et al. 1997; Mumby et al. 2005; Hughes et al. 2007). The broad category of macroalgae used in many field studies includes a variety of alga with different sensitivities to disturbance and life history strategies. Using macroalgae cover as an indicator of coral reef health, without considering the forms of algae or the presence of other key reef organisms, could lead to the mischaracterization of reefs as unhealthy versus healthy. Some studies have shown that reefs with high macroalgae cover are not necessarily degraded; in fact, reefs far from people may have high percentages of macroalgae cover (Vroom et al. 2006; Vroom and Braun 2010; Williams et al. 2015).

This disagreement over what constitutes a 'healthy' reef may also stem from debate about what reefs may have looked like before the Industrial Revolution. Some scientists argue that some reefs may have naturally high macroalgae cover (Howe 1912; Setchell 1928; Vroom 2011; Finnegan et al. 2015), while others argue that coral cover has decreased and macroalgae has increased even on the most remote reefs due to recent climate change (Aronson and Precht 2006; Carpenter et al. 2008; Bruno and Valdivia 2016). However, while phase shifts from hard coral- to macroalgae-dominated reefs after disturbances are well documented in the Caribbean (Hughes 1994), this may be uncommon in the Indo-Pacific. It

is possible that disturbances may instead cause coral reefs to shift to dominance of other taxa, such as sponges (Bell et al. 2013; Powell et al. 2014), or corals with weedy life histories (Darling et al. 2012; Davenport and Haner 2015; Crane et al. 2016).

The atolls of Majuro and Arno in the Republic of the Marshall Islands (RMI) provide a unique opportunity to evaluate ideas about indicators of reef health and the relative threats posed by climate change and human disturbance (Figure 1). The RMI is a nation of 29 atolls and five oceanic islands in the northwest tropical Pacific, just north of the Gilbert Islands in Kiribati and east of the Federated States of Micronesia. The Marshallese people depend heavily on coral reefs for food (fishing is a major source of sustenance) (Gillett 2016), and the reefs protect the low-lying islands from rising sea levels and storm surges (Pinca et al. 2005). Majuro and Arno Atolls, only 19 km apart, have comparable climatic and oceanographic experiences but different histories of human settlement and local coastal disturbance.



Figure 1: Map of the RMI and study site locations.

In 2014, the RMI underwent the most extensive thermal stress event in its recorded history. Abnormally high sea surface temperatures from July through December 2014 led to Bleaching Alert Level II warnings from NOAA Coral Reef Watch for September through November for the entire country, although heat stress was not as high in the southern Marshalls, including Majuro and Arno (Coral Reef Watch 2017). Although there were some reports of possible shallow water bleaching-related coral mortality based on limited observations in Majuro and Arno (Fellenius 2014), the overall effect of the heat stress event on coral and algal communities is unclear.

In this study, I examine the relationship between human disturbance and the composition of coral and algae communities across Majuro and Arno Atolls to explore the local impact of

these disturbances and how they affected the recovery of reefs after the 2014 thermal stress event. This is the first study of Arno's coral reefs and to compare the benthic communities between the two adjacent atolls. I first investigated patterns in percent cover of key coral and alga taxa and their relationship with metrics of human influence across 25 sites in Majuro and Arno. I then examined how size structure of the coral communities varies across sites within each atoll and between the two atolls. Finally, I assessed the recovery from the recent (2014) thermal stress event by comparing percent cover surveys of key benthic life forms from 2007 in Arno and 2014 in Majuro to our data from 2016, at a subset of the original sites. The results provide insight into the limitations of macroalgae as an indicator of reef health and the impacts of human activities on coral communities in the central Pacific.

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Background

The RMI have been inhabited for approximately 3,000 years (Ratzel 1896). Majuro Atoll, the capital of the RMI and home to over half of the country's approximately 53,000 people (Secretariat of the Pacific Community 2012), was subjected to extensive modifications and population growth after its occupation by the American military during World War II (Spennemann 1996). Over the past few decades, immigration from outer atolls and a high birth rate has increased the population density especially in the eastern population center of Delap-Uliga-Djarrot ("D-U-D"), where an American army base was built during World War II (Spennemann 1996; Secretariat of the Pacific Community 2012). In the 1970s, a series of causeways were built to connect the islands of Djarrot and Laura in Majuro which interrupted water flow between the lagoon and the ocean, and encouraged shoreline development along

eastern and southern Majuro. An artificial channel was then built to connect the lagoon and the ocean between Majuro Wharf and the east part of Rairok in the 1980s (Xue 2001).

A controversial expansion of the airport runway, using material dredged from the reef flat, began in 2011 (Johnson 2012 Mar 15; RMIPA 2013) and is still under way as of July, 2017 (RMIPA 2017). Coastal management challenges brought about by population growth, waste generation, and shoreline construction are placing pressure on the local coral reef ecosystems; for example, untreated sewage is concentrated and pumped from an outfall pipe near field site Maj12 that has corroded and leaks sewage directly onto the reef flat (MIMRA 2016), and garbage often accumulates inside the lagoon (Richards and Beger 2011).

Arno Atoll, located only about 19 km east of Majuro, has remained largely undisturbed by population growth and human modifications. Arno is larger than Majuro in area (12.96 km² of land, versus 9.72 km² in Majuro) but is home to fewer than 2,000 people, a number that is shrinking annually due to emigration to Majuro. The population of Arno is also spread more evenly throughout the atoll; the most populated island, Arno Arno, was home to 281 people as of the most recent census (Secretariat of the Pacific Community 2012). To date, there have only been a few published studies of the RMI's coral reefs (e.g. Pinca et al. 2005; Richards and Beger 2011; Houk and Musburger 2013), none of which have included Arno Atoll. Because of the close proximity to Majuro, Arno is subject to some fishing pressure by fishermen who travel from Majuro, but this is almost entirely pelagic; access to reefs is controlled by the local *iroij* (chief) (Hess 1999). While there is some reef fishing pressure in Arno, it is decidedly lower than in Majuro, and closely monitored by the central government.

The Outer Island Fish Market Center in Majuro, a government sustainable development initiative that provides resource to outer island fishers, reports receiving only 33 boatloads (approximately 2,500 pounds each) of fish (pelagic and reef) from Arno Atoll in 2015 (MIMRA 2015).

2.2.2 Study Sites

A total of 24 outer reef and one lagoon site across Majuro and Arno Atolls (12 in Majuro, 13 in Arno) were sampled between June 25 and July 7, 2016. (Appendix A). Sites were selected to cover the range of habitats, population density, and coastal infrastructure around each atoll. I prioritized sites with previous data (before the 2014 thermal stress event), which included sites Maj03, Maj04, Maj06 through Maj09, and Maj11 in Majuro visited by Beger et al. in 2014, and Arn03 through Arn08 in Arno visited by MIMRA in 2007. Sites in Arno were restricted to the western and southern rim due to difficulties accessing the distant northeast and southeast outer reefs.

In Majuro, sites in Delap-Uliga-Djarrit (DUD) are exposed to the most human influence (Figure 1, Maj09 through Maj01, clockwise); these areas are home to the majority of Majuro's population (Secretariat of the Pacific Community 2012). Maj02 is located just east of a new airport construction site, where dredging of the reef is supplying sediment to extend the runway. Islands in the north of the atoll are either uninhabited or home to fewer than 100 people, and are therefore less affected by human activities. The sites in north Majuro do, however, have the highest exposure to wind and waves (with the exception of Maj11, which is inside the lagoon) from the prevailing northeast trade winds.
In Arno Atoll, sites Arn03 through Arn08 were identified based on previous surveys by MIMRA and the Secretariat of the Pacific Community (SPC). The other sites (Arn01, Arn02, Arn09 through Arn13) were selected based on distance and availability of accessible shallow (<15 m) reef flats. Arn01 was located directly offshore from Arno Arno, the island with the largest population in Arno Atoll, and Arn08 and Arn13 were located offshore of slightly smaller *wetos* (townships). Arn12 was just north of a small boat passage that allowed boats to travel from the outer reefs to the lagoon. Because of Arno's orientation, all of the sites I visited there were relatively unexposed.

Each site was assigned a category of exposure based on the direction perpendicular to the shoreline (north, south, east, west, northeast, southwest, etc.). I later incorporated this into our statistical analysis to account for any potential effects of wind and wave exposure on benthic composition at each site.

2.2.3 Survey Methods

All data were collected between June 25 and July 7, 2016. A 50-m transect tape was laid randomly at 10-m depth at each site. I measured the length (in cm) of corals *in situ* by measuring the length (in cm) along the transect of all coral colonies \geq 1 cm that lay at least partially within 25-cm on both sides of the transect. I considered corals with separate patches of living tissue greater than 3-cm apart from each other independent and measured them individually. All corals were identified to the genus level, with the exception of *Porites rus*. I

also took 0.33 m^2 -sized quadrat photos (50.0 cm width by 66.7 cm length) at 50 cm intervals along the transect, for a total of 100 photos per site.

Maj12 is located at Majuro's sewage outfall; RMI-EPA coliform and enterococci tests consistently exceed safe levels at this site (Doig 1996), and I was therefore unable to sample there because of health concerns. Instead, I obtained 250 quadrat photos taken over an area of 250-m (five transects at 50m each), collected in September 2016 by Karl Fellenius of Hawaii Sea Grant and Martin Romain of the College of the Marshall Islands when the sewage pipe was temporarily turned off. Therefore, Maj12 is included in the benthic cover analysis but not the size frequency analysis.

In order to evaluate the change in benthic composition since before the 2014 thermal stress event, I obtained the limited available data from past benthic surveys in Arno and Majuro. The most recent surveys were a SPC underwater visual census conducted in Arno in summer 2007 at sites Arn03 through Arn08, six sites in total (Marshall Islands Marine Resources Authority, unpublished data). MIMRA's data collection followed underwater visual census methods used by the Secretariat of the Pacific (SPC), described in Clua et al. 2006. Researchers delimited ten 5x5-m quadrats on each side of a 50-m transect, for a total of 20 quadrats per transect per site. The depth of surveys was variable; measured via a dive computer, the average depth at the center of each quadrat was 7.7 m, shallower than the 10 m depth of our 2016 surveys. Sixteen substrate components (including nine abiotic components and seven live coral shapes) were estimated on a semi-quantitative scale (0, 1-10%, 11-30%, 31-50%, 51-75%, and 76-100%), adding up to 100% coverage. These data were then summarized by site and benthic category by the SPC, and provided to us by MIMRA.

In Majuro, past benthic surveys were conducted in July and August 2014 for Maj03, Maj04, Maj06 through Maj09, and Maj11, six sites in total (Beger et al., unpublished data). Here, researchers recorded the percent cover at each site using three point-intercept 50-m transects at 8-10m depth (60-100 points per transect). Each point was categorized within 17 key functional groups. At the same time, coral abundance was recorded (to the species level) within a 10m² (Maj03, Maj04, Maj06) or 25m² (Maj07, Maj09, Maj11) area along the transect tape. These methods are described in Richards 2009.

2.2.4 Human Disturbance

I estimated human influence at each site using the Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI), calculated using satellite imagery from the United States Geological Survey's Land Satellite 8. NDVI measures the amount of green vegetation within a 60-meter pixel on a scale of -1.0 to +1.0 and is commonly used to represent the extent of human disturbance on terrestrial ecosystems (e.g. Vaidyanathan et al. 2010; Lambert et al. 2015). I used NDVI instead of more traditional measurements such as human population (e.g. Houk and Musburger 2013; Bruno and Valdivia 2016) due to the spatial resolution of the available census data and in order to account for disturbances occurring where there are no permanent residents, such as the construction and dredging at the airport.

Satellite data were obtained from November 26, 2015, selected due to the low cloud cover on that day. Using ArcGIS ArcMap 10.4.1, we cast a circle with a 1-km diameter (chosen to minimize overlap of the circles) around each site and traced the landmass that fell within the circle (Figure 2). We then calculated the average NDVI of the landmass, giving us a proxy to rank human influence at each site (Appendix B). For Arn12, no land was located within a 1-km radius; instead, we used the same NDVI as Arn13, the next closest site, which was uninhabited and therefore similarly undisturbed.



Figure 2: Example of calculating NDVI for site Maj02 using ArcMap 10.4.1.

2.2.5 Oceanographic Data

Sea surface temperatures (SST) and degree heating weeks (DHW) for all sites covering the period June 3, 2013 through April 30, 2017 were obtained from 5km-resolution V3 satellite-

derived data developed by the NOAA Coral Reef Watch program. I calculated the max DHW for the bleaching year (July 2014 – June 2015) for each site, and these were later incorporated into our statistical analysis to account for any differences in heat stress between sites.

2.2.6 Data Analysis

Photos from the transects were processed in the lab to calculate benthic percent cover using Coral Point Count with Excel Extensions Research Software version 4.1 (Kohler and Gill 2006), which overlaid 20 random points per photo for 100 photos per site (for a total of 2,000 points per site). Each photo covered 0.33 m^2 (50.0 cm width by 66.7 cm length). I identified each point to the genus level for coral and macroalgae and to functional group for sponges, soft corals, turf algae, crustose coralline algae, and cyanobacteria. I also identified the coral *Porites rus* and the sponge *Terpios hoshinota* to the species level.

All statistical analysis was done using R i386 version 3.2.4 (R Core Team 2016). I first ran a series of simple linear regressions to investigate a relationship between NDVI and percent cover of specific benthic categories. Next, I calculated the Shannon-Weaver diversity index (H') and genera richness per site (Appendix C) using vegan package 2.4-2 (Oksanen et al. 2017) and ran a linear regression of these indices against the NDVI to look for a relationship between diversity and human influence. I also tested if the NDVI and the Shannon-Weaver diversity index or genera richness were significantly different between Majuro and Arno using Welch two-sample t-tests.

I visualized differences in benthic composition by atoll using Principal Component Analysis (PCA) on a subset of the percent-cover data (99% of all observations) of coral and macroalgae taxa. Permutational-based multivariate analysis (PerMANOVA, 99,999 permutations, Anderson 2001) was done using vegan package version 2.4-2 (Oksanen et al. 2017) to test for variation in means of benthic taxa caused by four environmental variables: atoll, NDVI, maximum DHW during the year surrounding the bleaching event (June 2014 through July 2015), and wind and wave exposure (the order of these variables in the test did not affect the results). The prevailing winds in this region come from the northeast, and sites in the north and east of the atoll were most exposed. I used the direction perpendicular to the shoreline at each site as a categorical variable to account for exposure (for example, north, south, east, west, northeast, southwest, etc.). For example, Arn01 and Arn02 were assigned to exposure category "West", while Maj01 was assigned to "Southwest".

To evaluate the differences in size frequency distributions for major coral taxa between sites and atolls, I grouped the size frequency data into eight taxonomic groups representing the most ecologically important and prevalent taxa: *Acropora, Heliopora, Isopora, Montipora, Pavona, Pocillopora* (genera), Favids (family), massive *Porites* (morphology of genus *Porites*), and *Porites rus* (species). For each of these groups, at each site and for each atoll, I calculated demographic statistics on coral abundance and size, including: mean size, standard deviation, coefficient of variation, skewness and skewness standard error, and kurtosis and kurtosis standard error. I considered skewness and kurtosis values greater than two times the standard error significantly different from normal (McClanahan et al. 2008). Despite log-transformation of the size distribution data for each taxa at each atoll, none of the distributions met the assumptions of normality (Shapiro-Wilk test) or homogeneity of variance (Levene's test), so comparisons of size frequency distributions between sites were conducted using untransformed data. To avoid Type I errors across multiple comparison tests, critical values for all tests were adjusted using the Bonferroni correction. I used the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test to compare size frequency distributions between Arno and Majuro (Adjeroud et al. 2007). I decided to test this across atolls instead of across sites based on our results of the PerMANOVA, which showed that the benthic composition differed more between atolls than by NDVI across sites. I ran Welch's analysis of variance (ANOVA) tests to examine whether the mean size, coefficient of variation, skewness, or kurtosis for each of the nine categories varied between Majuro and Arno (Adjeroud et al. 2007).

Finally, I tested whether percent cover of key benthic taxa had changed after 2014's thermal stress event using a series of Welch's two-sample t-tests for all benthic categories and key coral taxa with Bonferroni corrections. The data were tested for normality using the Shapiro-Wilk test and for homogeneity of variance using Levene's Test, and all assumptions were met. In Majuro, using unpublished data obtained from Beger et al. from 2014, I combined the percent cover (from point-intercept transects) with relative abundance data (from a band around the transect tape) to calculate percent cover of individual coral genera. I tested for changes between 2014 and 2016 in key live coral genera percentage of both total benthic cover and live coral cover. In Arno, I did not have data at the genus level, and was therefore only able to test the overall change in the percent of major benthic categories (comparing 2007 and 2016 surveys).

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Benthic Cover

Macroalgae (including *Halimeda* spp.) cover ranged from 0% to 88% (Figure 3a) across all sites. *Halimeda* spp. was the most common of the observed macroalgae, ranging from 0% to 77% of all benthic cover across all sites. Live coral cover ranged from 1% to 54% across all sites (Figure 3a). In Arno, massive *Porites* were common, while in Majuro, *Acropora* was more prevalent (Figure 3b).



Figure 3: Percent cover of (a) key benthic categories and (b) live coral at each study site.

The PCA of key coral taxa by site suggested some differences in the typical coral community compositions between sites in Majuro and sites in Arno (Figure 3a), with the sum of the first and second principal components in both PCAs greater than 0.50, indicating that these differences are important (Jolliffe 2002). *P. rus* and *Acropora* (in both table and branching morphologies) were more common at sites in Majuro. By contrast, sites in Arno were more likely to be dominated by massive *Porites*.

The PCA of only the macroalgae genera showed that the macroalgae communities were distinct, with very little overlap in the plots between the two atolls, with the exception of sites Maj04 and Maj08 (Figure 3b), which were more similar to the Arno sites than other Majuro sites. These sites are located on the north side of the atoll where there was relatively little human influence. Majuro sites were dominated by the macroalgae genera *Hypnea*, *Dictyota*, *Liagora*, *Lithothamnion*, and *Lobophora*, while Arno sites had higher prevalence of *Halimeda*, *Dictosphaeria*, and *Microdictyon*.



Figure 4: PCA of observed coral taxa by atoll (a) and macroalgae genera by atoll (b), excluding the general that made up less than 1% of observations.

NDVI did not differ significantly between atolls (Welch two-sample t-test, p = 0.114), but benthic composition was statistically distinct (PerMANOVA, p<0.001), and significantly related to mean NDVI (PerMANOVA, p=0.009), and exposure (p=0.016) (Table 1). There was no relationship between benthic composition and maximum DHW in 2014 (PerMANOVA, p=0.519) (Table 1).

Source	df	Ss	ms	\mathbf{r}^2	psuedo-f	p-value
Atoll	1	0.6584	0.6584	0.1756	6.0211	<u><0.0001</u>
mean NDVI	1	0.3323	0.3323	0.0886	3.0386	<u>0.0090</u>
exposure	6	1.1329	0.1888	0.3021	1.7266	<u>0.0160</u>
max DHW (bleaching year)	1	0.0956	0.0956	0.0255	0.8746	0.5191
residuals	14	1.7870	0.1276	0.4746		
Total	23	3.7502		1.00		

Table 1: PERMANOVA of drivers of benthic composition (significant values are underlined).

Least squares linear regressions showed significant relationships between NDVI and some of the major coral and algal cover categories, but not total live coral cover or total macroalgae cover. *Halimeda* (p=0.0050, r^2 =0.2950) and massive *Porites* (p=0.0242, r^2 =0.2020) were each significantly positively correlated with NDVI, which means they were more likely to be found in places with less human disturbance (

Table 2). Conversely, *Acropora* (p=0.0281, r^2 =0.1928), cyanobacteria (p<0.0001, r^2 =0.5389), *Hypnea* (p= 0.0218, r^2 =0.2084) and sponges (p=0.0044, r^2 =0.3019) were negatively correlated with NDVI and were therefore more likely to be found in places with higher disturbance (

Table 2). Variation in NDVI across sites explained about 20% or less of the variance across sites for *Acropora*, *Isopora*, massive *Porites*, and *Hypnea*. By contrast, NDVI explained about 54% of the variance of cyanobacteria across sites, and for *Halimeda* and sponges, NDVI explained approximately 30% of the variance of each. I found no relationship between Shannon Weaver Diversity Index (H') for each site (Appendix C) and NDVI (linear regression, p > 0.80), or by atoll (Welch two-sample t-test, p > 0.90). I similarly did not find a relationship between genera richness (Appendix C) and NDVI (linear regression, p > 0.70), or by atoll (Welch two-sample t-test, p = 0.90).

category	benthic variable	slope	association with people	n	r^2	f-stat	p-value
	All live coral			8968	0.016	0.376	0.546
	Acropora	-435.00	More	3066	0.193	0.568	<u>0.028</u>
	Heliopora			415	0.036	0.855	0.365
oral	Isopora			837	0.156	1.802	0.051
° C	All Favids			216	0.074	1.846	0.188
Live	Montipora			97	0.008	0.191	0.666
	Pocillopora			248	0.034	5.823	0.386
	Massive Porites	+564.12	Less	3259	0.202	0.195	<u>0.024</u>
	P. rus			1445	0.000	0.003	0.958
	All macroalgae			9660	0.088	2.204	0.151
	Dictospheria			51	0.027	0.627	0.436
e)	Dictyota			102	0.008	0.184	0.672
Iga	Halimeda	+1352.10	Less	5873	0.295	3.728	<u>0.005</u>
roa	Hypnea	-477.42	More	458	0.208	6.056	0.022
Aac	Liagora			39	0.000	0.006	0.940
N	Lithothamnion			69	0.107	2.750	0.111
	Lobophora			978	0.028	0.656	0.426
	Microdictyon			2038	0.038	0.897	0.354
	CCA			2809	0.057	1.393	0.250
5	Cyanobacteria	-904.20	More	3731	0.539	26.880	<u><0.001</u>
the	Turf algae			11,849	0.001	0.023	0.880
0	Soft coral			38	0.001	0.027	0.872
	Sponges	-1032.71	More	2191	0.302	9.944	0.004

Table 2: Results of simple linear regressions of NDVI and relative abundance of benthic taxa across all sites in Majuro and Arno Atolls (values significant at the 0.05 level are underlined).

Almost half of the sponge cover in Majuro (48.1%) was *Terpios hoshinota*, a cyanobacteria sponge often found in highly degraded areas, which has the ability to overgrow and kill corals. Because this sponge closely resembles cyanobacteria, it is easily misidentified (Rutzler and Muzik 1993). Maj02, a site with high turbidity located close to the airport dredging site, had 29.6% cover of *T. hoshinota* and only 4.2% macroalgae cover (Figure 4). I found no *T. hoshinota* in Arno.



Figure 4: From Maj02, (a) *T. hoshinota* covering a table of *Acropora* sp., (b) Zoomed-in view of *T. hoshinota*, (c) *T. hoshinota* and cyanobacteria growing on a branching *Acropora* sp.

2.3.2 Coral Size Structure

The size-structure data show that corals in Arno were on average smaller than those in Majuro. Across all sites, massive *Porites* were the most common coral in the size-structure data (n = 1887), with an overall mean size of 15.41 cm, the vast majority of these in Arno

(Appendix D). Acropora followed closely (n = 1381, mean size = 16.05 cm) followed by Favids (n = 1042, mean size = 8.09 cm) (Figure 5).



Figure 5: Quartile plots of coral size for major coral categories across both Arno and Majuro Atolls, where the lower and upper hinges correspond with the first and third quartiles, the center line represents the median, and the whiskers indicate 95% confidence intervals. *Porites rus* was omitted due to the low number of observations in Arno.

Within each atoll, skewness and kurtosis were positive and significantly different from normal for all categories, with the exception of *Montipora* in Arno Atoll (Appendix E, example distribution in Figure 6). The positive skewness and kurtosis indicate a peaked distribution dominated by small corals. Skewness was more positive in Arno for all categories except *P. rus*, which was more than twice as common in Majuro as Arno. Greater positive skewness may indicate that there are more juveniles present at sites in Arno, but could also result from partial mortality during the 2014 heat stress event. The shape of the

size distributions differed significantly between Majuro and Arno for five of the eight categories (Komogorov-Smirnov test,

Table 3).



Figure 6: Examples of size frequency distributions in Arno versus Majuro, where (a) is Acropora in Majuro, (b) Acropora in Arno, (c) massive *Porites* in Majuro, and (d) massive *Porites* in Arno.

Category	ks test statistic (w)	ks p-values	Bonferroni correction
Acropora	0.5385	<u>< 0.0001</u>	<u><0.0001</u>
Favids	0.2417	<u>< 0.0001</u>	<u><0.0001</u>
Heliopora	0.1184	<u>0.0284</u>	0.0567
Isopora	0.1807	<u>0.0458</u>	0.0896
Montipora	0.3093	0.0776	0.1552
Pocillopora	0.2187	<u>0.0007</u>	<u>0.0014</u>
Massive Porites	0.1727	<u>0.0013</u>	<u>0.0026</u>
P. rus	0.2966	<u><0.0001</u>	<u><0.0001</u>

 Table 3: Kolmogorov-Smirnov (ks) test results comparing across atolls, with Bonferroni correction.

 Significant results are underlined.

Mean size was greater in Majuro for six of the eight coral categories (Table 4); only *Isopora* and massive *Porites* were larger in Arno. The difference in mean sizes were significant for *Isopora* (Welch's ANOVA, p < 0.01, Table 4), but not for massive *Porites* (Welch's ANOVA, p = 0.80, Table 4) or any other coral categories. Both of these categories also had the largest differentiation in sample sizes between the two atolls; for *Isopora*, 493 were observed in Arno while only 66 were measured in Majuro; for massive *Porites*, 1,755 were observed in Arno and 132 in Majuro.

Table 4: Results of Welch's ANOVA of size-frequency statistics between atolls, where mean is the mean size in centimeters, the numerator degrees of freedom equals 1.00 for all tests, and df is the denominator degrees of freedom. Significant results are underlined. *P. rus* was not included because it was only observed at one site in Arno, so I did not have enough observations for this test.

	mean			coefficient of variation			skewness			kurtosis		
category	f	df	p- value	f	df	p-value	f	df	p- value	f	df	p- value
Acropora	1.76	20.41	0.20	2.18	21.97	0.15	1.01	18.63	0.33	0.65	16.89	0.43
Favids	3.49	11.34	0.09	9.30	20.48	<u><0.01</u>	12.37	15.91	< 0.01	5.45	12.10	0.04
Heliopora	2.16	12.61	0.17	1.85	12.99	0.20	3.51	7.39	0.10	1.50	5.72	0.27
Isopora	14.38	17.12	< 0.01	22.78	16.18	<u><0.01</u>	3.90	13.00	0.07	1.90	15.61	0.19
Montipora	0.56	13.81	0.46	6.41	13.58	<u>0.02</u>	2.52	10.17	0.14	0.20	11.71	0.67
Pocillopora	1.44	17.15	0.25	0.07	19.76	0.79	0.02	16.17	0.90	0.12	13.29	0.74
Massive Porites	0.07	10.81	0.80	0.02	7.07	0.90	0.43	8.61	0.53	0.63	17.87	0.44

Favids were the only category to have more than one statistic that differed significantly across the two atolls (CV < 0.01, skewness p < 0.01, kurtosis p = 0.04, Table 4). There were more Favids observed in Arno (n = 754) than in Majuro (n = 288), and the CV, skewness, and kurtosis (all significant) were larger in Arno (CV = 103.4, skewness = 7.3, kurtosis = 87.3) than in Majuro (CV = 65.8, skewness = 1.3, kurtosis = 1.3, Table 4). These results suggest that more of the Favids in Arno were small, and although there was a wider range in sizes observed in Arno, the majority of Favids measured there were close in size to the mean (as opposed to Majuro, where the sizes were more evenly distributed within the range).

The differences in the size distribution of *Acropora* between the two atolls were highly pronounced. The mean size of *Acropora* was smaller in Arno (7.9 cm) than in Majuro (21.3 cm), but this difference was not significant (Welch's ANOVA, p = 0.20, Table 4). In Arno, the coefficient of variation (CV) and the kurtosis were higher than in Majuro (Table 4) both of which suggest a larger range of sizes of *Acropora* in Arno, but with the majority of corals close to the mean size. Neither of these differences were significant (Welch's ANOVA, p = 0.15 for CV, p = 0.43 for kurtosis, Table 4).

By contrast, differences in size distributions of massive *Porites* between the two atolls were less pronounced, even though almost 95% of the massive *Porites* I observed were in Arno. In Majuro, massive *Porites* had a larger mean size than in Arno although the difference was small (17.5 cm in Majuro compared to 15.3 cm in Arno Table 4), and not significant (Welch's ANOVA, p = 0.80, Table 4). The CV for massive *Porites* was similar in both atolls (133.3 in Arno versus 147.7 in Majuro), but kurtosis in Arno (29.4) was more than twice that

in Majuro (11.7, Table 4). The range of sizes of massive *Porites* was comparable in both atolls, but in Arno, the majority were similar in size to the mean, although neither of these differences were significant (Welch's ANOVA, CV p= 0.90, kurtosis p=0.44, Table 4).

The size-frequency distribution statistics by atoll (Appendix D) appear to be representative of the statistics within sites (Appendix F), with overwhelmingly positive skewness and kurtosis.

Most coral categories had positive skewness and kurtosis at each individual site (Appendix F), with the exception of *Acropora*, *Isopora*, and *Pocillopora*. Kurtosis was negative for *Acropora* at 4 out of 24 sites, indicating that the *Acropora* at this site tended to be close in size to the mean, but these kurtosis values were all very close to zero, with none equal to or greater than -1.0. Kurtosis was also negative at 4 of the 23 sites where *Isopora* was found, with these values slightly further from zero, ranging from -0.8 to -2.2. The size distribution for *Pocillopora* had negative kurtosis at 7 of the 23 of sites, the most of all coral categories, with values ranging from -0.1 to -2.1. By contrast, only one coral category at one site had a negative skewness value (Favids at Maj05, -0.3, Appendix F).

2.3.3 Comparison with Previous Surveys

Maximum DHW only varied by 1.52 DHW across sites (4.03 at Arn06 and Arn07 to 5.55 DHW at Maj01) during the bleaching year (June 2014 – July 2015), while mean SST varied by less than 0.1 degree (Appendix G). The maximum DHW values surpass the Bleaching Alert Level 1 threshold but not the Alert Level II threshold; this suggests that the heat stress event was less pronounced around the southern RMI than in the rest of the country.

I compared the percent cover of major benthic categories from our 2016 surveys with 2014 data collected just prior to the thermal stress event at the six Majuro sites for which data were available (Maj03, Maj04, Maj06, Maj07, Maj08, Maj09, and Maj11). In Majuro, I saw no significant changes in percent cover of live coral (which ranged from 3.00% to 55.00% in 2014 and 6.44% to 54.48% in 2016), CCA, dead coral, cyanobacteria, or macroalgae from before the 2014 heat stress event to 2016 (

Table 5). Sponges did increase, from 0.19% to 9.55% (Welch two-sample t-test, p < 0.05,

Table 5). Of all the coral genera for which I had before and after data, only Pavona changedsignificantly (Welch two-sample t-test, p-value < 0.01,</td>

Table 5), but this was a negligible decrease in terms of percent cover, from 2% to 0.25%. I also tested whether key coral genera percentage of all live coral cover (as opposed to all benthos) had increased or decreased after the thermal stress event, but found no significant changes (

Table 5).

	variable	t	df	p-value	Bonferroni correction	mean 2014	mean 2016
	Live coral	0.50	9.52	0.63	1.00	33.35%	27.32%
	CCA	1.23	7.15	0.26	1.00	6.50%	2.80%
_	Dead Coral	1.14	8.31	0.28	1.00	34.80%	24.74%
аха	Cyanobacteria	-2.11	5.01	0.09	0.81	0.21%	8.56%
y ti	Macroalgae	0.31	9.19	0.76	1.00	11.67%	14.87%
ke	Sponges	-3.18	5.04	0.02	0.18	0.19%	9.55%
	Sand	0.71	5.79	0.50	1.00	12.37%	5.54%
	Rubble	-1.22	7.46	0.26	1.00	1.37%	4.58%
	Soft coral	-1.41	5.00	0.22	1.00	0.00%	0.08%
	Acropora	0.08	10.00	0.93	1.00	16.90%	15.88%
s)	Favids	-0.07	9.96	0.95	1.00	0.08%	0.09%
era hos	Heliopora	0.78	5.45	0.47	1.00	0.60%	0.17%
gen	Isopora	1.02	5.79	0.35	1.00	0.38%	0.11%
al g 11 b	Pavona	4.84	6.37	< 0.01	< 0.01	2.01%	0.25%
соі % а	Pocillopora	1.14	5.56	0.30	1.00	2.03%	0.71%
5)	P. rus	0.21	9.65	0.84	1.00	9.92%	8.37%
	Massive Porites	-1.54	5.00	0.18	1.00	0.00%	0.64%
	Acropora	-0.38	9.71	0.71	1.00	33.39%	42.49%
	Favids	0.45	7.49	0.67	1.00	1.91%	1.17%
era ral)	Heliopora	0.87	5.86	0.42	1.00	7.82%	2.47%
gen cc	Isopora	0.44	10.00	0.67	1.00	2.08%	13.63%
al g live	Pavona	1.63	5.46	0.16	1.00	17.90%	3.12%
cor %]	Pocillopora	0.46	9.27	0.65	1.00	6.00%	4.63%
)	P. rus	-0.00	9.17	1.00	1.00	0.00%	9.46%
	Massive Porites	1.03	5.35	0.35	1.00	6.29%	16.05%

Table 5: Benthic cover in Majuro Atoll in 2014 and 2016 surveys. Significant results are underlined.

In Arno, limited surveys were done in 2007 for sites Arn03 through Arno08 using broader benthic categories. I detected no significant change in mean live coral cover (which ranged from 4.13% to 49.15% in 2007 and 10.25% to 52.47% in 2016), CCA, dead coral, cyanobacteria, or macroalgae in Arno (Table 6). Cyanobacteria increased from 0.00% to 6.31% between 2007 and 2016 (Welch two-sampled t-test, p-value 0.0087, Table 6), but this was no longer significant when I corrected for multiple comparisons using the Bonferroni correction (p = 0.08, Table 6).

variable	t	df	p-value	Bonferroni correction	mean 2007	mean 2016
Live coral	0.07	9.55	0.95	1.00	31.17%	30.54%
CCA	-1.60	9.10	0.14	1.00	4.78%	7.98%
Dead Coral	-1.13	9.03	0.29	1.00	23.54%	29.42%
Cyanobacteria	-4.17	5.00	0.01	0.08	0.00%	6.31%
Macroalgae	-1.85	6.90	0.11	0.99	6.14%	12.97%
Sponges	2.64	5.06	0.04	0.36	0.07%	0.46%
Sand	0.79	6.44	0.46	1.00	1.97%	6.82%
Rubble	-1.22	7.46	0.26	1.00	1.37%	4.58%
Soft coral	2.78	6.09	0.03	0.27	3.46%	0.63%

Table 6: Change in benthic cover in Arno Atoll since previous available surveys. Significant results are underlined.

2.4 Discussion

The results illustrate that the benthic communities at Majuro and Arno Atolls differ in terms of size-frequency distributions of coral and relative cover of coral and algae taxa, both along a gradient of human impacts and between the two atolls. The analysis was conducted using NDVI as a proxy for human influence, potentially a novel (to coral reef studies) way to estimate the level of land-based disturbance near coral reefs. Taken together, the findings imply that more detailed metrics may be necessary to better characterize coral reef degradation and to guide future studies of coral reef resilience across the Pacific.

As expected, the mean NDVI on Majuro was higher than that of Arno, although this was not significant, likely because of the range of disturbance intensity in Majuro where some sites have very little human influence. To my knowledge, this is the first study to use NDVI as a proxy for human influence on coral reefs, although NDVI is commonly used in land-based studies (Vaidyanathan et al. 2010; Leu et al. 2013; Lambert et al. 2015). It was used because human population data is not available in the RMI at a high enough resolution to estimate how human population differed adjacent to each site. However, NDVI may serve as a more

accurate predictor of the effects human activities have on reefs, because it accounts for anthropogenic features that may be far away from where people live. For example, one of the most degraded sites, Maj02 (Figure 1), was located near the airport construction site, where the human population is low. NDVI is a way to account for any human activities that could have a detrimental effect on reefs despite low populations living nearby. Roads, bridges, farms, and landfills are other examples of human impacts that could be far from dense population centers.

The key patterns in benthic composition and size-structure across sites and atolls were explained by a combination of local disturbance and exposure to wind and waves, rather than temperature or past heat stress (Table 1). Wind and wave exposure is a known predictor of coral community structure, especially on shallow reef flats where corals may be susceptible to breakage, scouring, and abrasion (Dollar 1982; Grigg 1998; Storlazzi et al. 2005). Because of difficulty accessing the north side of Arno, all of the exposed (north or northeast facing) sites were in Majuro, which could account for some of the differences in benthic composition observed across the two atolls. However, the significance of NDVI as a predictor of benthic communities shows that human influence also played an important role in predicting the community structure of the reefs.

The differences in the benthic community between the two atolls are reflected in the varying sizes and abundances of particular coral taxa. The corals in Majuro were on average larger than those found in Arno, with the exception of *Isopora* and *P. rus*, which had larger mean sizes in Arno (Table 4). Massive *Porites* were more prevalent in Arno than in Majuro and

were significantly more likely to be found at sites with lower disturbance, but had a slightly larger mean size in Majuro, although not statistically significant. In addition to smaller mean coral sizes for most categories of corals in Arno, the population size distributions were more positively skewed in Arno than Majuro (with the exception of *P. rus*, Table 4) which also indicates the presence of proportionately more small corals in Arno. Previous research has shown that smaller coral colonies are more vulnerable to mortality (Connell 1973; Hughes and Connell 1987; Wittenberg and Hunte 1992; Bak and Meesters 1998). One potential explanation is that it is rare for small corals to experience partial mortality; because they have less surface area, mortality is more likely to be total (Bak and Meesters 1998). It is possible that higher disturbance in Majuro has contributed to the paucity of small corals found there.

Conversely, there were more *Acropora* in Majuro than in Arno, and an inverse relationship between cover of *Acropora* and NDVI, showing that higher *Acropora* cover was correlated with high levels of disturbance (

Table 2). This was surprising because most species of *Acropora* are competitive corals that tend to be sensitive to environmental fluctuations and local disturbances (Darling et al. 2012). However, some species of *Acropora* are extremely susceptible to predation (Bulleri et al. 2013; Gil et al. 2016); one potential explanation of this pattern may be the higher fishing pressure in Majuro, which could cause a lower density of corallivores. Data on exported reef fishery products from the Marshall Islands are not available (Gillett 2016), although a 2011 report from the Secretariat of the Pacific did conclude that reef fish and invertebrate abundance had decreased in Majuro's lagoon between 2007 and 2011 (Moore et al. 2012). *Acropora* in Majuro were on average larger than those in Arno (21.32 cm in Majuro vs 7.94 cm in Arno), although again, this was not statistically significant. In this case, the differences in mean size could be explained by morphology; I saw very few *Acropora* tables in Arno (instead, *Acropora* in Arno tended to have a branching morphology), but large tables were common in Majuro (tables accounted for 76.70% of all *Acropora* in Majuro compared to 0.01% in Arno).

While there was no relationship between all live coral or macroalgae cover and NDVI, some genera of macroalgae were more likely to be associated with high disturbance, and vice versa (

Table 2). The PCA showed that different macroalgae assemblages could explain much of the variation in benthic communities between atolls. Regression analyses confirmed this, with *Halimeda* more likely to be found at sites with low disturbance and *Hypnea* more prevalent at disturbed sites. This is consistent with studies that have found various taxa of macroalgae respond to disturbance in different ways (Stimson et al. 2001; Mumby et al. 2005; Clausing and Fong 2016). There was not a significant relationship between disturbance and all macroalgae cover, which is important because many researchers group different genera of macroalgae together and use macroalgae as a single category to indicate whether reefs are degraded.

The most disturbed sites (lowest NDVI - Maj09, Maj12, Maj03, Maj02) had low macroalgae cover (ranging from 0.2% to 4.7%), and high cover of other benthic taxa such as turf algae, sponges, and cyanobacteria. Sites in Majuro had higher sponge coral on average than sites in Arno (0.6% average sponge cover in Arno compared to 10.9% in Majuro), and were home to different sponge taxa. Almost half (48.1%) of all sponges in Majuro were *T. hoshinota*, an encrusting cyanobacteria sponge sometimes called "black disease" because of its ability to quickly overgrow and kill corals (Shi et al. 2012). *T. hoshinota* was absent from our surveys from Arno. This sponge is a natural part of coral reef ecosystems, but may be able to outcompete corals in degraded conditions (Rutzler and Muzik 1993). *T. hoshinota* was most prevalent at site Maj02 (covering 29.6% of the substrate, compared to 2.0% live coral and 4.7% macroalgae), which was near the airport expansion project and dredging. This is consistent with previous studies, which have found that *T. hoshinota* tends to be found near areas of coastal development and with high turbidity (Rutzler and Muzik 1993; Reimer,

Mizuyama, et al. 2011). *T. hoshinota* may be attracted to sites with high coral cover (Lin and Soong 2009), specifically those with branching corals (Elliott et al. 2016), and is able to persist for long periods of time (Reimer, Nozawa, et al. 2011); therefore, its spread could be devastating to Majuro's already vulnerable reefs. Studies have indicated that outbreaks may be reversible and coral may be able to recover, but data are lacking to estimate the length of outbreaks (Reimer, Mizuyama, et al. 2011).

These results suggest that using cover of macroalgae as a single category to evaluate reef degradation and not considering other potential indicator taxa (such as sponges) could mask the impacts that human activities have on reefs. Percent cover of macroalgae is often used as a proxy for coral reef health (assuming sites with higher cover are more degraded, e.g. McCook et al. 1997; Mumby et al. 2005; Hughes et al. 2007), but other studies have also determined that macroalgae served limited purpose as an indicator of reef health. In Hawaii's uninhabited French Frigate Shoals, for example, Vroom et al. (2005) found that macroalgae cover was higher than that of coral at 46% of their study sites, with considerable heterogeneity across sites, even around the same island. A subsequent study indicated that macroalgae community composition was dependent on latitude (Vroom and Braun 2010). There have also been studies identifying high macroalgae cover at undisturbed sites (e.g. Williams et al. 2013).

The use of macroalgae as an indicator stems from evidence of phase shifts from coral to macroalgae dominance in the Caribbean (Hughes 1994; Hughes et al. 2007), but other studies found little to no evidence of this in the Indo-Pacific (Bruno et al. 2009; Smith et al. 2016).

Instead, degraded reefs in the Pacific may see shifts to other taxa, including sponges (Norström et al. 2009; Bell et al. 2013; Powell et al. 2014) or "weedy" corals (Darling et al. 2013; Crane et al. 2016), with the outcomes varying by oceanographic conditions, local factors, and latitude. In Yap, Federated States of Micronesia (FSM), researchers found that disturbed sites had low macroalgae cover (Crane et al. 2017). This is consistent with the results here, in which degraded sites were not dominated by macroalgae, but instead had high cover of sponges, cyanobacteria, and turf algae. Researchers should consider using metrics other than total macroalgae cover, such as cover of sponges and cyanobacteria, in future studies of reef degradation in the Pacific.

The percent cover of sponges and cyanobacteria in both Majuro and Arno were higher in the 2016 surveys than in the previous available survey data, although these data were collected using different sampling methods than those I used, introducing a potential for error. The differences in percent cover were most pronounced in Majuro, where sponges were 0.19% of the benthos in 2014 and 9.55% in 2016 and cyanobacteria increased by 8.35% in just two years. By contrast, nine years had passed since benthic surveys were done in Arno, and during that time period, sponges increased by 0.39% and cyanobacteria increased by 6.31%. It is possible that the increases in cyanobacteria and especially sponge cover were due to mislabeling; the sponge *T. hoshinota* accounted for almost half of the sponges found in Majuro (48.10%), and it is notoriously hard to identify, particularly in photo quadrats, because it resembles cyanobacteria (Rutzler and Muzik 1993). Because sponges were correlated with decreased NDVI (increased disturbance), it is especially important that they are identified consistently. Further study will be needed when another, more severe thermal

stress event occurs in order to identify the impacts of thermal stress on the reefs with more certainty, particularly in Arno where more time had passed between surveys.

I may not have detected differences with previous survey data because the effects of the thermal stress event in 2014 on coral cover appears to have been less intense than previously recorded, at least in the southern RMI. Despite a Level II Bleaching Alert from NOAA Coral Reef Watch for the whole of the RMI in 2014 (maximum DHW reached 11.71 °C-week, averaged across the region), Majuro and Arno did not experience severe heat stress (maximum DHW reached 4.03 – 5.55 °C-week at our sites). The comparison of 2014 pre-thermal stress benthic cover data and our 2016 data suggest that any bleaching which may have occurred in 2014 had a limited effect on total coral cover. There was an increase in sponges, particularly in Majuro where the previous surveys were more detailed and more recent, although this change was not significant in Arno after I corrected for multiple comparisons. While bleaching did not appear to alter overall coral cover, it is possible that it may have caused some partial mortality, which would cause the size-frequency distributions to shift towards smaller corals. Unfortunately, this could not be tested because the earlier data did not include size-frequency measurements.

The lack of recent surveys from Arno exemplifies the importance of consistently monitoring reefs, particularly now that coral bleaching is happening more regularly throughout the Indo-Pacific. However, monitoring and managing coral reefs in the Pacific Islands can be challenging, particularly at remote atolls, which are often difficult for researchers and managers to access. The RMI is a good example of a successful locally-managed benthic
monitoring program; it is home to the world-renowned Reimaanlok Process, a national conservation plan designed by local marine experts that set conservation targets and objectives, including regular monitoring of natural resources, while encouraging the use of traditional conservation practices (Baker et al. 2011a). Benthic monitoring is done regularly by MIMRA staff at sites throughout Majuro and a number of the outer island atolls (Reimaan National Planning Team 2008).

The success of the Reimaanlok Process highlights the value of locally-managed monitoring programs, which have a number of benefits, including giving tools to remote communities that would allow them to make informed and independent decisions about how best to manage their natural resources in a changing environment. It could also provide valuable information about reef degradation in places that are not easily accessible to scientists, and therefore less studied. Recently, a number of studies have emphasized the effectiveness of citizen science projects to monitor coral reefs globally (Forrester et al. 2015; Loerzel et al. 2017; Schläppy et al. 2017; Stuart-Smith et al. 2017). However, these programs tend to use broad categories such as "hard coral", "soft coral", "macroalgae", or other (e.g. Hill 2006). Our results suggest the results of these programs would be more effective if they included training and identification of common coral and macroalgae genera, as well as more difficult organisms to identify such as *T. hoshinota*. Including these categories would provide managers and researchers alike with a more complete picture of the current state of coral reefs in the Indo-Pacific.

2.5 Conclusion

This study identifies a relationship between local human disturbance, exposure, and the benthic community composition and coral size structure in reefs across Majuro and Arno Atolls. I found no relationship between coral genera diversity and human influence on these reefs. Degraded sites were dominated by turf algae, cyanobacteria, and sponges (particularly T. hoshinota) and in general had low cover of macroalgae. Cyanobacteria and sponges may have increased over time in both atolls, although further surveys are needed to confirm this trend in Arno. I also found variation in which genera of macroalgae were found at disturbed sites. Hypnea was statistically correlated with high disturbance, while Halimeda was more likely to be found at sites with low disturbance. In the context of past studies, which indicated the importance of local and broader geographic conditions in explaining benthic communities, I suggest that broad metrics identifying degraded reefs may not be consistent across different sites and regions, and that using macroalgae alone as an indicator of reef health may serve to mask the influence of local human disturbance on reef community composition. It is important for researchers and monitoring teams to use sampling protocols that identify coral and macroalgae to the genus level, and to consider identifying other indicator taxa that are known to be found on degraded reefs, such as the cyanobacteria sponge T. hoshinota.

61

Chapter 3: Future Implications

For my thesis, I surveyed the benthic cover and coral community at sites across Majuro and Arno atolls to gain an understanding of how the reefs in this region responded to a gradient of human impacts, as well as how sites recovered from a thermal stress event in 2014. This study highlights potential new indicators of reef degradation and provides new evidence in favor of detailed metrics that could guide future studies of resilience across the Pacific. There have been very few studies of the coral reefs in this region (e.g. Pinca et al. 2005; Richards and Beger 2011; Houk and Musburger 2013). None of the previous studies compared the reefs across the two adjacent atolls, which provided a novel opportunity to explore these questions.

The expected outcomes of this research are multifold. MIMRA currently monitors changes in benthic substrate (including coral and algae to the genus level), fish communities, and macroinvertebrates as a part of the Reimaanlok Process (Baker et al. 2011b), and our findings may help to direct their future monitoring plans. For example, the sponge *T. hoshinota* is known to spread and overgrow corals quickly. Training MIMRA staff to recognize *T. hoshinota*, along with regular monitoring at Maj02 where *T. hoshinota* covered almost 30% of the reef, would allow MIMRA to monitor whether the sponge is spreading and how it is affecting reefs.

Our results also show the importance of avoiding broad categories of taxa, such as "macroalgae", as a proxy for reef degradation. Scientists and community monitoring programs alike often use "macroalgae" as an indicator of degradation, but relying on this

category may actually mask the impacts that such studies are attempting to identify. Instead, recording the genera of corals and macroalgae, in addition to other life forms like *T*. *hoshinota* that do well in impacted reef environments, would provide a more accurate view of how reefs respond to local and global stressors. I hope these results will inform future studies in the Pacific, as well as help to make community-managed monitoring programs more informative and effective.

The central Pacific is an ideal natural laboratory to study the role of past climate experience and local human disturbance on the resilience of coral reefs to climate change. Research has suggested that exposure to higher past temperature variability may make individual corals or coral communities more resistant and/or more resilient to heat stress (McClanahan et al. 2007; Donner 2011; Oliver and Palumbi 2011; Carilli et al. 2012). Eventually, I hope to combine the work from this thesis with data collected by other researchers (see: Donner 2007), which will allow me to compare coral communities across a natural latitudinal gradient of temperature variability that extends through the equatorial Gilbert Islands of Kiribati, south of Majuro and Arno.

The Gilbert and Marshall Islands together provide an uncommon setting for this research. The variability in maximum annual temperatures declines from the more equatorial Gilbert Islands north to the RMI (Figure 7). The data collected from Majuro and Arno Atolls in 2016 followed the same methods used by Donner for a decade in Kiribati (Donner 2007). Eventually, comparing these data to the results of Donner's work in Kiribati will allow a better understanding of the role of fluctuating temperatures and local human impacts in the

63

resilience of coral reefs to climate change. Specifically, the sites in Arno and Majuro will complete the matrix of sites across temperature variability and different levels of human disturbance (Table 7).



Figure 7: Map of the southern RMI and the northern Gilbert Islands of Kiribati.

Table 7: RMI study sites, together with sites of previous
observations in Kiribati, on a matrix of SST variability and
human disturbance.

		Tem j Low	Sea Surface perature Vari	ability High
isturbance	Low	Arno	Butaritari	N. Tarawa/ Abaiang
Human D	High	Majuro		S. Tarawa

Because of the north-south gradient in temperature variability, the central equatorial Pacific from the RMI south to Kiribati's Gilbert Islands creates a unique opportunity for studying how temperature affects coral reef resilience. By comparing measurements of benthic cover and coral size distribution from the RMI to previous data collected in Kiribati, I will be able to test important hypotheses about the factors which confer resistance and resilience to heat-induced coral bleaching.

Bibliography

- Adjeroud M, Pratchett MS, Kospartov MC, Lejeusne C, Penin L. 2007. Small-scale variability in the size structure of scleractinian corals around Moorea, French Polynesia: Patterns across depths and locations. Hydrobiologia 589:117–126.
- Alvarez-Filip L, Dulvy NK, Gill JA, Cote IM, Watkinson AR. 2009. Flattening of Caribbean coral reefs: region-wide declines in architectural complexity. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 276:3019–3025.
- Anderson MJ. 2001. A new method for non parametric multivariate analysis of variance. Austral Ecol. 26:32–46.
- Arnold SN, Steneck RS, Mumby PJ. 2010. Running the gauntlet: Inhibitory effects of algal turfs on the processes of coral recruitment. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 414:91–105.
- Aronson RB, Precht WF. 2006. Conservation, precaution, and Caribbean reefs. Coral Reefs 25:441–450.
- Aswani S, Mumby PJ, Baker AC, Christie P, McCook LJ, Steneck RS, Richmond RH. 2015. Scientific frontiers in the management of coral reefs. Front. Mar. Sci. 2:1–13.
- Ateweberhan M, McClanahan TR. 2010. Relationship between historical sea-surface temperature variability and climate change-induced coral mortality in the western Indian Ocean. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 60:964–970.
- Bak RPM, Meesters EH. 1998. Coral population structure: The hidden information of colony size-frequency distributions. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 162:301–306.
- Baker N, Beger M, McClennen C, Ishoda A, Edwards F. 2011a. Reimaanlok: A National Framework for Conservation Area Planning in the Marshall Islands. J. Mar. Biol. 2011:1–11.

Baker N, Beger M, McClennen C, Ishoda A, Edwards F. 2011b. Reimaanlok: A National Framework for Conservation Area Planning in the Marshall Islands. J. Mar. Biol. 2011:1–11.

Beger M, Fenner D, Ceccarelli D, Martin T. 2014. Unpublished data.

- Bell JJ, Davy SK, Jones T, Taylor MW, Webster NS. 2013. Could some coral reefs become sponge reefs as our climate changes? Glob. Chang. Biol. 19:2613–2624.
- Berkelmans R, van Oppen MJ. 2006. The role of zooxanthellae in the thermal tolerance of corals: a "nugget of hope" for coral reefs in an era of climate change. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 273:2305–2312.
- Björk M, Mohammed SM, Björklund M, Semesi A. 1995. Coralline Algae, Important Coralreef Builders Threatened by Pollution. Ambio 24:502–505.
- Brodie J, Fabricius K, De'ath G, Okaji K. 2005. Are increased nutrient inputs responsible for more outbreaks of crown-of-thorns starfish? An appraisal of the evidence. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 51:266–278.
- Brown B, Le Tissier M, Scoffin T, Tudhope A. 1990. Evaluation of the environmental impact of dredging on intertidal coral reefs at Ko Phuket, Thailand, using ecological and physiological parameters . Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 65:273–281.
- Bruno JF, Sweatman H, Precht WF, Selig ER, Schutte VGW. 2009. Assessing evidence of phase shifts from coral to macroalgal dominance on coral reefs. Ecol. Soc. Am. 90:1478–1484.
- Bruno JF, Valdivia A. 2016. Coral reef degradation is not correlated with local human population density. Sci. Rep. 6:29778.

Bulleri F, Couraudon-Reále M, Lison De Loma T, Claudet J. 2013. Variability in the effects

of macroalgae on the survival and growth of corals: The consumer connection. PLoS One 8:1–8.

- Burkepile DE, Hay ME. 2006. Herbivore Vs. Nutrient Control of Marine Primary Producers: Context-Dependent Effects. Ecology 87:3128–3139.
- Carilli J, Donner SD, Hartmann AC. 2012. Historical temperature variability affects coral response to heat stress. PLoS One 7:1–9.
- Carpenter KE, Abrar M, Aeby G, Aronson RB, Banks S, Bruckner A, Chiriboga A, Cortes J, Delbeek JC, DeVantier L, et al. 2008. One-Third of Reef Building Corals Face Elevated Extinction Risk from Climate Change and Local Impacts. Sciencexpress:1–7.
- Cinner JE. 2007. Designing marine reserves to reflect local socioeconomic conditions: lessons from long-enduring customary management systems. Coral Reefs 26:1035– 1045.
- Cinner JE. 2014. Coral reef livelihoods. Curr. Opin. Environ. Sustain. 7:65–71.
- Clausing RJ, Fong P. 2016. Environmental variability drives rapid and dramatic changes in nutrient limitation of tropical macroalgae with different ecological strategies. Coral Reefs 35:669–680.
- Clua E, Legendre P, Vigliola L, Magron F, Kulbicki M, Sarramegna S, Labrosse P, Galzin R. 2006. Medium scale approach (MSA) for improved assessment of coral reef fish habitat. J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol. 333:219–230.
- Coles SL, Jokiel PL, Lewis CR. 1976. Thermal tolerance in tropical versus subtropical Pacific reef corals. Pacific Sci. 30:159–166.

Connell JH. 1973. Population ecology of reef-building corals. In: Jones OA, Endean R,

editors. Biology and geology of coral reefs. Volume 2. New York, NY: Academic Press. p. 205–245.

- Connell JH. 1978. Diversity in Tropical Rain Forests and Coral Reefs. Science (80-.). 199:1302–1310.
- Coral Reef Watch. 2017. Marshall Islands 5-km Bleaching Heat Stress Gauges. Natl. Ocean Atmos. Assoc. Coral Reef Conserv. Progr. [accessed 2017 Jun 9]. https://coralreefwatch.noaa.gov/vs/gauges/marshall_islands.php
- Crane NL, Paddack M, Nelson P, Abelson A, Precoda K, Rulmal JJ, Bernardi G. 2017. Atollscale patterns in coral reef community structure: Human signatures on Ulithi Atoll, Micronesia. PLoS One 12:1–19.
- Crane NL, Paddack MJ, Nelson PA, Abelson A, John Rulmal J, Bernardi G. 2016. Corallimorph and Montipora Reefs in Ulithi Atoll, Micronesia: documenting unusual reefs. J. Ocean Sci. Found. 21:10–17.
- Darling ES, Alvarez-Filip L, Oliver TA, McClanahan TR, Côté IM. 2012. Evaluating lifehistory strategies of reef corals from species traits. Ecol. Lett. 15:1378–1386.
- Darling ES, McClanahan TR, Côté IM. 2013. Life histories predict coral community disassembly under multiple stressors. Glob. Chang. Biol. 19:1930–1940.

Davenport C, Haner J. 2015. The Marshall Islands Are Disappearing. New York Times.

- Doig KD. 1996. Republic of the Marshall Islands Water and Sanitation Sector Strategy and Action Plan. Majuro, RMI.
- Dollar SJ. 1982. Wave Stress and Coral Community Structure in Hawaii. Coral Reef 1:71– 81.

Donner SD. 2007. Coral Reef Benthic Monitoring Program Workshop Report. Kiribati

Adaptation Project. Vancouver, British Columbia.

- Donner SD. 2011. An evaluation of the effect of recent temperature variability on the prediction of coral bleaching events. Biol. Appl. 21:1718–1730.
- Donner SD, Potere D. 2007. The Inequity of the Global Threat to Coral Reefs. Bioscience 57:214.
- Donner SD, Skirving WJ, Little CM, Oppenheimer M, Hoegh-Guldberg O. 2005. Global assessment of coral bleaching and required rates of adaptation under climate change. Glob. Chang. Biol. 11:2251–2265.
- Dulvy NK, Freckleton RP, Polunin NVC. 2004. Coral reef cascades and the indirect effects of predator removal by exploitation. Ecol. Lett. 7:410–416.
- Easterling DR, Meehl GA, Parmesan C, Changnon SA, Karl TR, Mearns LO. 2000. Climate extremes: observations, modeling, and impacts. Science 289:2068–2074.
- Edmunds PJ, Carpenter RC, Comeau S. 2013. Understanding the threats of ocean acidification to coral reefs. Oceanography 26:149–152.
- Elliott J, Patterson M, Summers N, Miternique C, Montocchio E, Vitry E. 2016. How does the proliferation of the coral-killing sponge Terpios hoshinota affect benthic community structure on coral reefs? Coral Reefs 35:1083–1095.
- Evans CW, Maragos JE, Holthus P. 1986. Reef corals in Kaneohe Bay. Six years before and after termination of sewage. In: Jokiel PL, Richmond RH, Rogers RA, editors. Coral reef population biology. 37th ed. Hawaii Institute of Marine Biology Technical Report. p. 91–100.
- Fabricius K, De'ath G, McCook L, Turak E, Williams DM. 2005. Changes in algal, coral and fish assemblages along water quality gradients on the inshore Great Barrier Reef.

Mar. Pollut. Bull. 51:384–398.

- Faechem RG, Bayliss-Smith T. 1977. Subsistence and survival: rural ecology in the Pacific. London, UK; New York, NY: Academic Press.
- Feely RA, Sabine CL, Lee K, Berelson W, Kleypas J, Fabry VJ, Millero FJ. 2004. Impact of anthropogenic carbon dioxide on the calcium carbonate system in the oceans. Science (80-.). 305:362–366.
- Fellenius K. 2014. Republic of the Marshall Islands Coral Bleaching Report. Majuro, Republic of the Marshall Islands.
- Ferrario F, Beck MW, Storlazzi CD, Micheli F, Shepard CC, Airoldi L. 2014. The effectiveness of coral reefs for coastal hazard risk reduction and adaptation. Nat. Commun. 5:1–9.
- Finnegan S, Anderson SC, Harnik PG, Simpson C, Tittensor DP, Byrnes JE, Finkel Z V, Lindberg DR, Liow LH, Lockwood R, et al. 2015. Paleontological baselines for evaluating extinction risk in the modern oceans. Science (80-.). 438:5.
- Forrester G, Baily P, Conetta D, Forrester L, Kintzing E, Jarecki L. 2015. Comparing monitoring data collected by volunteers and professionals shows that citizen scientists can detect long-term change on coral reefs. J. Nat. Conserv. 24:1–9.
- Gates RD, Baghdasarian G, Muscatine L. 1992. Temperature stress causes host cell detachment in symbiotic cnidarians: implications for coral bleaching. Biol. Bull. 182:324–332.
- Gil MA, Goldenberg SU, Ly Thai Bach A, Mills SC, Claudet J. 2016. Interactive effects of three pervasive marine stressors in a post-disturbance coral reef. Coral Reefs 35:1281–1293.

Gillett R. 2016. Fisherines in the Economies of Pacific Island Countries and Territories.

- Glynn P. 1983. Extensive "bleaching" and death of reef corals on the Pacific coast of Panama. Environ. Conserv. 10:149–154.
- Goldberg WM. 2013. The Biology of Reefs and Reef Organisms. Chicago and London: The University of Chicago Press.
- Graham NAJ, Bellwood DR, Cinner JE, Hughes TP, Norström A V., Nyström M. 2013. Managing resilience to reverse phase shifts in coral reefs. Front. Ecol. Environ. 11.
- Grigg RW. 1998. Holocene coral reef accretion in Hawaii: A function of wave exposure and sea level history. Coral Reefs 17:263–272.
- Guinotte JM, Buddemeier RW, Kleypas JA. 2003. Future coral reef habitat marginality: Temporal and spatial effects of climate change in the Pacific basin. Coral Reefs 22:551–558.
- Hassan R, Scholess R, Naville A. 2005. Coastal Systems. In: Hassan R, Scholes R, Ash N, editors. Ecosystems & Human Well-Being: Current State & Trends. Vol. 1. Island Press. p. 513–549.
- Hess J. 1999. Artisinal Coral Reef Fisheries and Sustainable Development: The Arno Atoll Fisheries Association. Pac. Stud. 22:109–135.
- Hill J. 2006. Reef Check Australia Methods Manual. Townsville, QLD Australia.
- Hoegh-Guldberg O, Mumby PJ, Hooten AJ, Steneck RS, Greenfield P, Gomez E, Harvell
 CD, Sale PF, Edwards a J, Caldeira K, et al. 2008. Coral Reefs Under Rapid
 Climate Change and Ocean Acidification. Science (80-.). 318:1737–1742.
- Houk P, Musburger C. 2013. Trophic interactions and ecological stability across coral reefs in the Marshall Islands. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 488:23–34.

Howe MA. 1912. The building of "coral" reefs. Science (80-.). 35:837-842.

- Hubbard J, Pocock YP. 1972. Sediment rejection by recent scleractinian corals: a key to paleo-environmental reconstruction. Geol. Rundschau 61:598–626.
- Hughes TP. 1994. Catastrophes, Phase Shifts, and Large-Scale Degradation of a Caribbean Coral Reef. Science (80-.). 265:1547–1551.
- Hughes TP, Connell JH. 1987. Population Dynamics Based on Size or Age? A Reef-Coral Analysis. Am. Soc. Nat. 129:818–829.
- Hughes TP, Rodrigues MJ, Bellwood DR, Ceccarelli D, Hoegh-Guldberg O, McCook L,
 Moltschaniwskyj N, Pratchett MS, Steneck RS, Willis B. 2007. Phase Shifts,
 Herbivory, and the Resilience of Coral Reefs to Climate Change. Curr. Biol.
 17:360–365.
- Hunter CL, Evans CW. 1995. Coral reefs in Kaneohe Bay, Hawaii: Two centuries of western influence and two decades of data. Bull. Mar. Sci. 57:501–515.
- IPCC. 2014. Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Pachauri RK, Meyer LA, editors. Geneva, Switzerland: IPCC.
- Johnson G. 2012 Mar 15. Majuro airport project to move ahead despite opposition. Marian. Var.
- Jokiel PL, Hunter CL, Taguchi S, Watarai L. 1993. Ecological impact of a fresh-water "reef kill" in Kaneohe Bay, Oahu, Hawaii. Coral Reefs 12:177–184.
- Jolliffe IT. 2002. Principal Component Analysis, Second Edition. Encycl. Stat. Behav. Sci. 30:487.
- Kayal M, Vercelloni J, Lison de Loma T, Bosserelle P, Chancerelle Y, Geoffroy S,

Stievenart C, Michonneau F, Penin L, Planes S, et al. 2012. Predator Crown-of-Thorns Starfish (Acanthaster planci) Outbreak, Mass Mortality of Corals, and Cascading Effects on Reef Fish and Benthic Communities. PLoS One 7:e47363.

- Kleypas JA, Yates KK. 2009. Coral Reefs and Ocean Acidification. Oceanography 22:108– 117.
- Kohler KE, Gill SM. 2006. Coral Point Count with Excel extensions (CPCe): A Visual Basic program for the determination of coral and substrate coverage using random point count methodology. Comput. Geosci. 32:1259–1269.
- Kroeker KJ, Kordas RL, Crim RN, Singh GG. 2010. Meta-analysis reveals negative yet variable effects of ocean acidification on marine organisms. Ecol. Lett. 13:1419– 1434.
- Lambeck K, Chappell J. 2001. Sea level change through the last glacial cycle. Science (80-.). 292:679–686.
- Lambert J, Denux JP, Verbesselt J, Balent G, Cheret V. 2015. Detecting clear-cuts and decreases in forest vitality using MODIS NDVI time series. Remote Sens. 7:3588– 3612.
- Lasker HR. 1980. Sediment rejection by reef corals: The roles of behavior and morphology in Montastrea cavernosa (Linnaeus). J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol. 47:77–87.
- Laws EA, Redalje DG. 1982. Sewage Diversion Effects on the Water Column of a Subtropical Estuary. Mar. Environ. Res. 6:265–279.
- Leu M, Hanser SE, Knick ST. 2013. The Human Footprint in the West: A Large-Scale Analysis of Anthropogenic Impacts. Ecol. Appl. 18:1119–1139.

Lewis S. 1986. The Role of Herbivorous Fishes in the Organization of a Caribbean Reef.

Ecol. Monogr. 56:183–200.

- Lin WJ, Soong KY. 2009. Growth and prevention experiments of Terpios hoshinota surrounding Green Island. J. Natl. Park. 19:46–57.
- Loerzel JL, Goedeke TL, Dillard MK, Brown G. 2017. SCUBA divers above the waterline: Using participatory mapping of coral reef conditions to inform reef management. Mar. Policy 76:79–89.
- Martin TSH, Connolly RM, Olds AD, Ceccarelli DM, Fenner DE, Schlacher TA, Beger M. 2017. Subsistence harvesting by a small community does not substantially compromise coral reef fish assemblages. ICES J. Mar. Sci.
- McClanahan TR, Ateweberhan M, Muhando C a., Maina J, Mohammed MS. 2007. Effects of Climate and Seawater Temperature Variation on Coral Bleaching and Mortality. Ecol. Monogr. 77:503–525.
- McClanahan TR, Ateweberhan M, Omukoto J. 2008. Long-term changes in coral colony size distributions on Kenyan reefs under different management regimes and across the 1998 bleaching event. Mar. Biol. 153:755–768.
- McCook LJ. 1999. Macroalgae, nutrients and phase shifts on coral reefs: Scientific issues and management consequences for the Great Barrier Reef. Coral Reefs 18:357–367.
- McCook LJ, Price IR, Klumpp DW. 1997. Macroalgae on the GBR: causes or consequences, indicators or models of reef degradation? Proc 8th Int Coral Reef Sym 2 2:1851– 1855.
- Mellin C, Aaron Macneil M, Cheal AJ, Emslie MJ, Julian Caley M. 2016. Marine protected areas increase resilience among coral reef communities. Ecol. Lett. 19:629–637.

Micheli F, Saenz-Arroyo A, Greenley A, Vazquez L, Montes JAE, Rossetto M, DeLeo GA.

2012. Evidence That Marine Reserves Enhance Resilience to Climatic Impacts. PLoS One 7(7):8.

- MIMRA. 2015. Increase in sales of outer island fish to Ebeye, Majuro. [accessed 2017 Jun 9]. http://mimra.com
- MIMRA. 2016. Sewage Outfall. [accessed 2017 Jun 9].

http://mimra.com/index.php?option=com_sppagebuilder&view=page&id=33

- Moberg F, Folke C. 1999. Ecological goods and services of coral reef ecosystems. Ecol. Econ. 29:215–233.
- Moore B, Sapatu M, Yeeting B, Pakoa K, Magron F, Chapman L. 2012. Climate Change Baseline Assessment: Majuro Atoll Republic of the Marshall Islands. Secretariat of the Pacific Community.
- Mumby PJ. 2006. The Impact of Exploiting Grazers (Scaridae) on the Dynamics of Caribbean Coral Reefs. Ecol. Appl. 16:747–69.
- Mumby PJ, Foster NL, Fahy EAG. 2005. Patch dynamics of coral reef macroalgae under chronic and acute disturbance. Coral Reefs 24:681–692.
- Myers RA, Worm B. 2005. Extinction, survival or recovery of large predatory fishes. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B 360:13–20.
- Norström A V, Nyström M, Lokrantz J, Folke C. 2009. Alternative states on coral reefs : beyond coral macroalgal phase shifts. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 376:295–306.
- Oksanen J, Guillaume Blanchet F, Friendly M, Kindt R, Legendre P, McGlinn D, Minchin PR, O'Hara RB, Simpson GL, Solymos P, et al. 2017. vegan: Community Ecology Package.

Oliver TA, Palumbi SR. 2011. Do fluctuating temperature environments elevate coral

thermal tolerance? Coral Reefs 30:429–440.

- Van Oppen MJH, Gates RD. 2006. Conservation genetics and the resilience of reef-building corals. Mol. Ecol. 15:3863–3883.
- PACCSAP. 2011. Marshall Islands. In: Climate Change in the Pacific: Scientific Assessment and New Research. Volume 2: Australian Bureau of Meteorology, Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation. p. 111–127.
- PACCSAP. 2014. Marshall Islands. In: Climate Change in the Pacific: Scientific Assessment and New Research. Volume 2. Australian Bureau of Meteorology, Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation. p. 141–165.
- Pinca S, Beger M, Jacobson D. 2005. The state of coral reef ecosystems of the Marshall Islands.
- Powell A, Smith DJ, Hepburn LJ, Jones T, Berman J, Jompa J, Bell JJ. 2014. Reduced diversity and high sponge abundance on a sedimented indo-pacific reef system:
 Implications for future changes in environmental quality. PLoS One 9.
- Putnam HM, Gates RD. 2015. Preconditioning in the reef-building coral Pocillopora damicornis and the potential for trans-generational acclimatization in coral larvae under future climate change conditions. J. Exp. Biol. in press.

R Core Team. 2016. R: A language and environment for statistical computing.

Randall JE. 1961. Overgrazing of Algae by Herbivorous Marine Fishes. Ecology 42:812.

Ratzel F. 1896. The History of Mankind. Macmillan and Company, Ltd.

Reimaan National Planning Team. 2008. Reimaanlok: National Conservation Plan for the Marshall Islands 2007-2012. Majuro, RMI.

Reimer JD, Mizuyama M, Nakano M, Fujii T, Hirose E. 2011. Current status of the

distribution of the coral-encrusting cyanobacteriosponge Terpios hoshinota in southern Japan. Galaxea, J. Coral Reef Stud. 13:35–44.

- Reimer JD, Nozawa Y, Hirose E. 2011. Domination and disappearance of the black sponge: A quarter century after the initial terpios outbreak in Southern Japan. Zool. Stud. 50:394.
- Richards Z. 2009. Majuro Atoll Long-term Monitoring Guide.
- Richards ZT, Beger M. 2011. A quantification of the standing stock of macro-debris in Majuro lagoon and its effect on hard coral communities. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 62:1693– 1701.
- Richmond RH. 1993. Coral Reefs: Present Problems and Future Concerns Resulting from Anthropogenic Disturbance. Am. Zool. 33:524–536.
- RMIPA. 2013. Runway Safety Area Improvement and Road Realignment Project: A compilation of supporting documention for the lagoonside dredging at the airport water reservoirs, Amata Kabua International Airport, Majuro Atoll, Republic of the Marshall Islands.
- RMIPA. 2017. Airport Road Realignment/RSA West End. Repub. Marshall Islands Port Auth.
- Rogers C. 1990. Responses of coral reefs and reef organisms to sedimentation. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 62:185–202.
- Rutzler K, Muzik K. 1993. Terpios hoshinota, a new cyanobacteriosponge threatening Pacific reefs. Sci. Mar. 57:395–403.
- Scheffer M, Barrett S, Carpenter SR, Folke C, Green AJ, Holmegren M, Hughes TP, Kosten S, Van de Leemput IA, Nepstad DC, et al. 2015. Creating a safe operating space for

77

iconic ecosystems: Managing local stressors to promote resilience to global change. Science (80-.). 347:1317–1319.

- Schläppy M-L, Loder J, Salmond J, Lea A, Dean AJ, Roelfsema CM. 2017. Making Waves: Marine Citizen Science for Impact. Front. Mar. Sci. 4:1–7.
- Secretariat of the Pacific Community. 2012. Republic of the Marshall Islands 2011 Census report. Noumea, New Caledonia.
- Setchell WA. 1928. Coral Reefs as Zonational Plant Formations. Science (80-.). 68:119– 121.
- Shi Q, Liu GH, Yan HQ. 2012. Black Disease (Terpios hoshinota): A Probable Cause for the Rapid Coral Mortality at the Northern Reef of Yongxing Island in the South China Sea. Ambio 41:446–455.
- Smith JE, Brainard R, Carter A, Grillo S, Edwards C, Harris J, Lewis L, Obura D, Rohwer F, Sala E, et al. 2016. Re-evaluating the health of coral reef communities: baselines and evidence for human impacts across the central Pacific. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 283:20151985.
- Spalding M, Burke L, Wood SA, Ashpole J, Hutchison J, zu Ermgassen P. 2017. Mapping the global value and distribution of coral reef tourism. Mar. Policy 82:104–113.
- Spennemann D. 1996. Nontraditional Settlement Patterns and Typhoon Hazard on Contemporary Majuro Atoll, Republic of the Marshall Islands. Environ. Manage. 20:337–48.
- Stallings CD. 2008. Indirect Effects of an Exploited Predator on Recruitment of Coral-reef Fishes. Ecol. Soc. Am. 89:2090–2095.

State of the Reefs - Global Perspective. 1995. NOAA Natl. Clim. Data Cent.: 1-8. [accessed

2015 Nov 25]. https://www.ncdc.noaa.gov/paleo/outreach/coral/sor/sor_global.html

- Stimson J, Larned ST, Conklin E. 2001. Effects of herbivory, nutrient levels, and introduced algae on the distribution and abundance of the invasive macroalga Dictyosphaeria cavernosa in Kaneohe Bay, Hawaii. Coral Reefs 19:343–357.
- Storlazzi CD, Brown EK, Field ME, Rodgers K, Jokiel PL. 2005. A model for wave control on coral breakage and species distribution in the Hawaiian Islands. Coral Reefs 24:43–55.
- Stuart-Smith RD, Edgar GJ, Barrett NS, Bates AE, Baker SC, Bax NJ, Becerro MA, Berkhout J, Blanchard JL, Brock DJ, et al. 2017. Assessing National Biodiversity Trends for Rocky and Coral Reefs through the Integration of Citizen Science and Scientific Monitoring Programs. Bioscience 67:134–146.
- Szmant AM. 1997. Nutrient effects on coral reefs: a hypothesis on the importance of topographic and trophic complexity to reef nutrient dynamics. In: Proc 8th Int Coral Reef Symp, Panama. p. 1527–1532.
- Toth LT, Aronson RB, Cobb KM, Cheng H, Edwards RL, Grothe PR, Sayana HR. 2015. Climate and biotic thresholds of coral-reef shutdown. Nat. Clim. Chang. 5:274–369.
- Vaidyanathan S, Krishnaswamy J, Samba Kumar N, Dhanwatey H, Dhanwatey P, Ullas Karanth K. 2010. Patterns of tropical forest dynamics and human impacts: Views from above and below the canopy. Biol. Conserv. 143:2881–2890.
- Vroom PS. 2011. "Coral Dominance": A Dangerous Ecosystem Misnomer? J. Mar. Biol. 2011:1–8.
- Vroom PS, Braun CL. 2010. Benthic composition of a healthy subtropical reef: Baseline species-level cover, with an emphasis on algae, in the Northwestern Hawaiian

Islands. PLoS One 5.

- Vroom PS, Page KN, Kenyon JC, Brainard RE. 2006. Algae-dominated reefs. Am. Sci. 94:430–437.
- Weber M, de Beer D, Lott C, Polerecky L, Kohls K, Abed RMM, Ferdelman TG, Fabricius KE. 2012. Mechanisms of damage to corals exposed to sedimentation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 109:E1558–E1567.
- White R, Stege M, Fellenius K. 2015. Republic of the Marshall Islands Oceans and Tides Capacity Mapping Report.
- Williams GJ, Gove JM, Eynaud Y, Zgliczynski BJ, Sandin SA. 2015. Local human impacts decouple natural biophysical relationships on Pacific coral reefs. Ecography (Cop.). 38:751–761.
- Williams GJ, Smith JE, Conklin EJ, Gove JM, Sala E, Sandin SA. 2013. Benthic communities at two remote Pacific coral reefs: effects of reef habitat, depth, and wave energy gradients on spatial patterns. PeerJ 1:e81.
- Williams ID, Baum JK, Heenan A, Hanson KM, Nadon MO, Brainard RE. 2015. Human, Oceanographic and Habitat Drivers of Central and Western Pacific Coral Reef Fish Assemblages. PLoS One 10:1–19.
- Wittenberg M, Hunte W. 1992. Effects of eutrophication and sedimentation on juvenile corals. Mar. Biol. 112:131–138.
- van Woesik R, Golbuu Y, Roff G. 2015. Keep up or drown: adjustment of western Pacific coral reefs to sea-level rise in the 21st century. R. Soc. Open Sci. 2:150181.
- Wolanski E, De'ath G. 2005. Predicting the impact of present and future human land-use on the Great Barrier Reef. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 64:504–508.

Xue C. 2001. Coastal Erosion and Management of Majuro Atoll, Marshall Islands. J. Coast. Res. 17:909–918.

Appendices

Appendix A	List of	sites with	GPS	coordinates
------------	---------	------------	-----	-------------

site name	latitude	longitude
Arn01n	7.063083	171.545150
Arn02n	7.041067	171.569417
Arn03n	6.992833	171.608900
Arn04n	6.995917	171.642067
Arn05n	7.004033	171.589600
Arn06n	6.955250	171.748517
Arn07n	6.962333	171.725883
Arn08n	6.981267	171.695883
Arn09n	7.117933	171.564600
Arn10n	7.084333	171.552900
Arn11n	7.150800	171.587283
Arn12n	7.188133	171.608750
Arn13n	7.243017	171.632617
Maj01n	7.074700	171.166733
Maj02n	7.066517	171.295450
Maj03n	7.079350	171.343483
Maj04n	7.221050	171.056233
Maj05n	7.197383	171.097083
Maj06n	7.157117	171.203100
Maj07n	7.143250	171.027083
Maj08n	7.103967	171.081000
Maj09n	7.103617	171.382250
Maj10n	7.130200	171.316100
Maj11n	7.129333	171.308750
Maj12n	7.082539	171.368372

Appendix B NDVI by site

site name	average NDVI
Arn01	0.4737
Arn02	0.3473
Arn03	0.3623
Arn04	0.2558
Arn05	0.3829
Arn06	0.4132
Arn07	0.3778
Arn08	0.3984
Arn09	0.4481
Arn10	0.3991
Arn11	0.4646
Arn12	0.4346
Arn13	0.4045
Maj01	0.3761
Maj02	0.2519
Maj03	0.3101
Maj04	0.4446
Maj05	0.3503
Maj06	0.4257
Maj07	0.4520
Maj08	0.3712
Maj09	0.1404
Maj10	0.3867
Maj11	0.4062
Maj12	0.1893

site name	shannon-weaver diversity index	genera richness
Arn01	1.8822	17
Arn02	2.3836	18
Arn03	2.0690	14
Arn04	1.5452	18
Arn05	1.5465	16
Arn06	2.0460	14
Arn07	1.8866	17
Arn08	2.0434	17
Arn09	2.1087	24
Arn10	2.1405	19
Arn11	2.5102	23
Arn12	1.9960	14
Arn13	2.3765	23
Maj01	2.0905	25
Maj02	1.6353	15
Maj03	2.3144	13
Maj04	1.5653	20
Maj05	1.9741	17
Maj06	2.2717	11
Maj07	2.0215	20
Maj08	2.4728	20
Maj09	2.7210	25
Maj10	2.7210	23
Maj11	1.2144	6

Appendix C Shannon-Weaver diversity indices

Appendix D Coral size data by coral category for each atoll

Includes number of colonies (n), mean size in centimeter (μ), standard deviation (sd), coefficient of variation (cv), skewness (sk), and kurtosis (k). The skewness and kurtosis values that are significantly different from normal are underlined.

		Acropora	Favids	Heliopora	Isopora	Montipora	Pocillopora	Massive <i>Porites</i>	P. rus
	n	543	754	367	493	26	126	1755	119
Ę	μ	7.9	7.5	10.7	17.9	11.9	10.2	15.3	33.5
Ate	sd	54.7	7.8	14.0	21.8	6.9	9.5	20.3	43.9
rno	cv	688.2	103.4	131.0	121.8	58.1	93.0	133.3	131.1
A	sk	<u>16.4</u>	<u>7.3</u>	<u>3.2</u>	2.6	1.9	<u>1.9</u>	<u>3.9</u>	2.3
	k	<u>268.0</u>	<u>87.3</u>	<u>12.6</u>	<u>8.2</u>	0.5	<u>3.4</u>	<u>29.4</u>	<u>5.6</u>
	n	839	288	259	66	49	243	132	300
toll	μ	21.3	9.6	12.3	11.6	16.0	11.7	17.5	23.1
0 V	sd	46.5	6.3	13.4	7.6	9.4	8.9	25.8	76.2
jur	cv	218.6	65.8	109.4	54.3	59.1	75.7	147.7	329.3
Ma	sk	<u>5.0</u>	<u>1.3</u>	2.0	<u>1.6</u>	<u>1.4</u>	<u>1.6</u>	<u>3.4</u>	12.1
	k	<u>30.8</u>	<u>1.3</u>	<u>3.9</u>	<u>3.3</u>	<u>3.6</u>	<u>2.8</u>	<u>11.7</u>	<u>170.9</u>
	n	1382	1042	626	559	75	369	1887	419
	μ	16.0	8.1	11.3	17.2	14.6	11.2	15.4	16.1
=	sd	50.3	7.5	13.8	20.8	8.8	9.1	20.8	68.7
A	cv	313.4	92.1	121.5	120.9	60.5	81.3	134.8	263.4
	sk	<u>10.6</u>	<u>6.1</u>	2.7	<u>2.7</u>	<u>1.5</u>	<u>1.7</u>	<u>3.8</u>	<u>11.8</u>
	k	155.2	73.4	<u>9.0</u>	<u>9.4</u>	<u>3.6</u>	2.9	27.1	182.7

Appendix E Size frequency by atoll

Boxplot and mean colony size (white dots) for the dominant hard coral taxa at each atoll, with n-values specified above the x-axes.





Appendix F Size frequency values by site

Summary of colony size data collected for each coral genera at each site, including number of colonies (n), mean size in centimeters (mean), standard deviation (sd), coefficient of variation (cv), skewness (sk), and kurtosis (k). The skewness and kurtosis values that are significantly different from normal are underlined.

	category	n	mean	sd	cv	sk	k
	Acropora	19	4.4	1.6	37.5	<u>2.3</u>	7.7
01	Favids	34	6.1	5.8	95.6	<u>4.2</u>	<u>19.5</u>
vrn(Heliopora	43	11.3	10	88.3	1.1	-0.1
A	Isopora	31	16.4	20.9	127.3	<u>2.7</u>	<u>8.3</u>
	Pocillopora	15	14.4	11.5	79.7	0.9	-0.1
	Massive Porites	246	12.8	16.3	127.6	<u>3.1</u>	<u>12.2</u>
	category	n	mean	sd	cv	sk	k
	Acropora	29	5.0	2.3	45	0.0	-0.3
2	Favids	68	9.0	9.1	101.6	<u>3.5</u>	<u>15.6</u>
n0(Heliopora	2	25.0	14.1	56.6	0.0	0.0
Ar	Isopora	23	25.0	20.1	80.2	0.7	-0.8
	Montipora	6	7.5	4.4	58.9	1.0	0.7
	Pocillopora	9	13.0	11.6	89.0	1.4	0.4
	Massive Porites	52	20.7	34.2	165.0	<u>3.3</u>	<u>12.2</u>
	category	n	mean	sd	cv	sk	k
~	Acropora	47	3.4	1.2	35.2	0.7	0.2
n03	Favids	47	10.5	13.8	131.6	<u>3.1</u>	<u>9.1</u>
Ar	Isopora	11	24.1	16.8	69.8	1.1	0.6
	Pocillopora	3	8.3	1.5	18.3	0.9	0.0
	Massive Porites	75	14.5	16.7	115.3	<u>2.5</u>	<u>6.6</u>

	category	n	mean	sd	cv	sk	k
	Acropora	47	3.4	1.3	38.9	<u>3.2</u>	<u>14.0</u>
_	Favids	50	3.7	1.6	44.4	0.8	0.6
n04	Heliopora	4	6.0	3.4	56.1	0.0	-0.2
Ar	Isopora	10	12.3	12.7	103.3	1.6	1.6
	Montipora	5	8.4	1.7	19.9	-0.5	-0.6
	Pocillopora	5	7.8	3.2	40.9	0.3	-1.3
	Massive Porites	246	11.6	13.1	112.9	<u>2.0</u>	<u>3.6</u>
	category	n	mean	sd	cv	sk	k
	Acropora	19	6.3	4.8	76.5	2.0	3.5
	Favids	40	7.0	5.2	74.3	<u>2.2</u>	<u>5.1</u>
n04	Heliopora	48	19.0	19.0	99.9	<u>1.4</u>	1.5
Ar	Isopora	11	26.6	16.9	69.4	0.5	0.2
	Montipora	1	7.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
	Pocillopora	5	14.2	10.7	75.3	0.9	-0.6
	Massive Porites	252	11.8	15.3	129.2	<u>3.5</u>	<u>17.7</u>
	category	n	mean	sd	cv	sk	k
	Acropora	32	61.2	221.4	362.1	<u>3.8</u>	<u>13.2</u>
n0(Favids	21	4.6	5.0	108.4	2.1	4.0
Ar	Isopora	77	15.4	18.0	117.1	<u>2.6</u>	<u>6.6</u>
	Pocillopora	15	11.3	5.9	51.6	0.3	-1.3
	Massive Porites	55	20.1	24.6	122.6	<u>1.5</u>	1.5
	category	n	mean	sd	cv	sk	k
	Acropora	16	4.0	1.7	42.8	0.8	0.3
	Favids	33	5.8	3.3	56.3	<u>2.8</u>	<u>10.5</u>
	Heliopora	27	24.7	25.9	104.7	1.5	1.7
.n0	Isopora	118	10.5	11.7	111.0	<u>2.8</u>	<u>8.1</u>
Ar	Montipora	2	20.0	14.1	70.7	0.0	0.0
	Pocillopora	5	16.8	20.0	118.9	1.6	2.3
	Branching Porites	202	10.0	11.0	109.6	<u>4.7</u>	<u>29.1</u>
	Massive Porites	95	22.0	24.9	113.4	<u>1.9</u>	<u>3.3</u>

	category	n	mean	sd	cv	sk	k
	Acropora	87	4.5	2.6	57.5	<u>4.7</u>	<u>30.7</u>
08	Favids	35	5.7	2.4	42.2	0.7	-0.8
rn(Isopora	50	34.3	39.2	114.2	<u>1.5</u>	1.5
A	Pocillopora	14	15.9	11.9	74.7	0.9	-0.3
	Massive Porites	42	9.9	11.7	118.3	<u>2.4</u>	<u>5.5</u>
	P. rus	119	33.5	43.9	131.1	<u>2.3</u>	<u>5.6</u>
	category	n	mean	sd	cv	sk	k
	Acropora	55	5.4	3.2	59.2	<u>3.3</u>	<u>15.8</u>
	Favids	110	7.6	4.3	56.6	<u>1.9</u>	<u>6.2</u>
00u	Heliopora	4	16.3	13.2	81.1	0.1	-5.2
Ar	Isopora	29	14.8	14.5	97.9	1.3	0.4
	Montipora	1	11.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
	Pocillopora	17	4.6	1.3	28.9	0.9	2.1
	Massive Porites	297	16.8	20.3	120.5	<u>2.2</u>	<u>6.1</u>
	category	n	mean	sd	cv	sk	k
	Acropora	65	4.5	1.9	42.4	<u>1.6</u>	<u>3.4</u>
	Favids	46	6.7	3.6	53.4	<u>1.5</u>	2.1
n1(Heliopora	21	4.2	0.7	17.9	-0.3	4.1
Ar	Isopora	6	23.2	26.7	115.3	2.0	4.0
	Montipora	1	25.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
	Pocillopora	2	6.0	1.4	23.6	0.0	0.0
	Massive Porites	81	23.8	24.2	101.7	<u>1.2</u>	0.4
	category	n	mean	sd	cv	sk	k
	Acropora	54	5.8	3.5	61.5	<u>3.3</u>	<u>16.0</u>
	Favids	111	10.0	13.2	131.3	<u>6.9</u>	<u>59.5</u>
n11	Heliopora	67	8.9	9.6	107.8	<u>3.7</u>	<u>17.9</u>
Ar	Isopora	33	19.1	27.3	142.7	<u>2.7</u>	<u>7.6</u>
	Montipora	9	14.6	6.3	43.1	-0.1	-1.9
	Pocillopora	25	8.2	8.4	102.0	<u>2.3</u>	<u>5.0</u>
	Massive Porites	132	21.1	33.3	157.9	<u>5.2</u>	<u>37.8</u>

	category	n	mean	sd	cv	sk	k
	Acropora	34	3.8	1.6	42.0	0.9	-0.3
n12	Favids	18	4.4	1.9	41.7	0.1	-0.9
Ar	Heliopora	101	4.8	3.0	62.5	2.2	<u>6.9</u>
	Pocillopora	9	4.0	1.0	25.0	1.0	0.8
	Massive Porites	24	5.1	4.2	82.4	<u>4.3</u>	<u>20.1</u>
	category	n	mean	sd	cv	sk	k
	Acropora	39	5.2	2.3	44.3	<u>1.7</u>	<u>4.5</u>
	Favids	141	7.6	5.0	66.1	<u>2.9</u>	12.7
n13	Heliopora	50	10.9	15.2	140.3	<u>4.0</u>	<u>18.7</u>
Ar	Isopora	94	18.5	18.9	101.9	1.3	0.7
	Montipora	1	9.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
	Pocillopora	2	5.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
	Massive Porites	158	13.9	15.6	112.6	<u>2.3</u>	<u>6.1</u>
	category	n	mean	sd	cv	sk	k
	Acropora	64	20.9	50.0	239.6	<u>3.4</u>	<u>10.5</u>
	Favids	33	6.4	3.3	51.3	1.1	1.4
101	Heliopora	4	6.3	6.5	104.0	2.0	4.0
M	Isopora	2	16.0	12.7	79.5	0.0	0.0
	Montipora	3	8.3	10.1	121.4	1.7	0.0
	Pocillopora	14	8.5	4.3	50.5	0.3	-1.4
	Massive Porites	3	10.0	4.4	43.6	-1.6	0.0
	P. rus	22	12.4	8.7	69.9	0.8	0.5
	category	n	mean	sd	cv	sk	k
<u>j02</u>	Acropora	29	9.9	13.0	130.9	<u>3.5</u>	<u>12.8</u>
Maj	Favids	3	8.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
F	Pocillopora	13	21.3	15.4	72.2	-0.2	-1.9
	P. rus	27	15.2	15.5	101.9	<u>3.5</u>	<u>14.4</u>
	category	n	mean	sd	cv	sk	k
3	Acropora	86	26.7	48.6	181.8	<u>3.3</u>	<u>11.0</u>
[aj(Favids	2	15.5	3.5	22.8	0.0	0.0
Σ	Montipora	3	24.7	22.5	13.0	1.4	0.0
	Pocillopora Demis	51 107	1/./	11.0	03.4 172.4	1.2	0.9
	r. rus	107	19./	<i>33.9</i>	1/2.4	<u>4.0</u>	<u>24.0</u>

	category	n	mean	sd	cv	sk	k
	Acropora	18	6.7	3.7	55.6	1.4	1.2
4	Favids	31	7.9	3.7	46.7	1.1	1.2
aj0	Heliopora	38	5.8	7.0	119.5	<u>5.2</u>	<u>29.0</u>
M	Isopora	5	9.8	5.4	55.6	0.6	-2.2
	Montipora	6	20.7	13.1	63.2	1.6	2.8
	Pocillopora	18	6.0	3.1	51.1	0.9	0.1
	Massive Porites	27	19.9	32.8	165.4	<u>3.0</u>	<u>8.6</u>
	category	n	mean	sd	cv	sk	k
	Acropora	213	14.9	18.0	121.1	<u>4.0</u>	20.6
05	Favids	10	21.3	8.1	37.8	-0.3	0.7
Iaj	Heliopora	21	4.8	3.5	73.3	<u>4.6</u>	<u>21.0</u>
~	Isopora	12	15.8	8.6	54.1	-0.1	-1.0
	Montipora	2	13.5	13.4	99.5	0.0	0.0
	Pocillopora	31	15.6	6.9	44.6	0.2	0.0
	category	n	mean	sd	cv	sk	k
	category Acropora	n 84	mean 66.0	sd 93.5	cv 141.8	sk <u>2.3</u>	k <u>6.1</u>
90	category Acropora Favids	n 84 2	mean 66.0 2.5	sd 93.5 0.7	cv 141.8 28.3	sk <u>2.3</u> 0.0	k <u>6.1</u> 0.0
1aj06	category Acropora Favids Isopora	n 84 2 7	mean 66.0 2.5 7.7	sd 93.5 0.7 4.4	cv 141.8 28.3 56.9	sk <u>2.3</u> 0.0 2.0	k <u>6.1</u> 0.0 4.3
Maj06	category Acropora Favids Isopora Pocillopora	n 84 2 7 6	mean 66.0 2.5 7.7 20.2	sd 93.5 0.7 4.4 4.6	cv 141.8 28.3 56.9 22.7	sk <u>2.3</u> 0.0 2.0 0.3	k <u>6.1</u> 0.0 4.3 -2.1
Maj06	category Acropora Favids Isopora Pocillopora Massive Porites	n 84 2 7 6 7	mean 66.0 2.5 7.7 20.2 7.7	sd 93.5 0.7 4.4 4.6 6.2	cv 141.8 28.3 56.9 22.7 80.5	sk <u>2.3</u> 0.0 2.0 0.3 2.1	k <u>6.1</u> 0.0 4.3 -2.1 4.7
Maj06	category Acropora Favids Isopora Pocillopora Massive Porites P. rus	n 84 2 7 6 7 32	mean 66.0 2.5 7.7 20.2 7.7 12.3	sd 93.5 0.7 4.4 4.6 6.2 13.4	cv 141.8 28.3 56.9 22.7 80.5 108.4	sk <u>2.3</u> 0.0 2.0 0.3 2.1 <u>2.4</u>	k <u>6.1</u> 0.0 4.3 -2.1 4.7 <u>5.5</u>
Maj06	category Acropora Favids Isopora Pocillopora Massive Porites P. rus category	n 84 2 7 6 7 32 n	mean 66.0 2.5 7.7 20.2 7.7 12.3 mean	sd 93.5 0.7 4.4 4.6 6.2 13.4 sd	cv 141.8 28.3 56.9 22.7 80.5 108.4 cv	sk <u>2.3</u> 0.0 2.0 0.3 2.1 <u>2.4</u> sk	k <u>6.1</u> 0.0 4.3 -2.1 4.7 <u>5.5</u> k
Maj06	category Acropora Favids Isopora Pocillopora Massive Porites P. rus category Acropora	n 84 2 7 6 7 32 n 69	mean 66.0 2.5 7.7 20.2 7.7 12.3 mean 7.4	sd 93.5 0.7 4.4 4.6 6.2 13.4 sd 6.1	cv 141.8 28.3 56.9 22.7 80.5 108.4 cv 82.3	sk 2.3 0.0 2.0 0.3 2.1 2.4 sk 6.3	k <u>6.1</u> 0.0 4.3 -2.1 4.7 <u>5.5</u> k <u>46.9</u>
7 Maj06	category Acropora Favids Isopora Pocillopora Massive Porites P. rus category Acropora Favids	n 84 2 7 6 7 32 n 69 34	mean 66.0 2.5 7.7 20.2 7.7 12.3 mean 7.4 9.2	sd 93.5 0.7 4.4 4.6 6.2 13.4 sd 6.1 4.6	cv 141.8 28.3 56.9 22.7 80.5 108.4 cv 82.3 50.3	sk <u>2.3</u> 0.0 2.0 0.3 2.1 <u>2.4</u> sk <u>6.3</u> 1.5	k <u>6.1</u> 0.0 4.3 -2.1 4.7 <u>5.5</u> k <u>46.9</u> 2.9
aj07 Maj06	category Acropora Favids Isopora Pocillopora Massive Porites P. rus category Acropora Favids Heliopora	n 84 2 7 6 7 32 n 69 34 37	mean 66.0 2.5 7.7 20.2 7.7 12.3 mean 7.4 9.2 10.0	sd 93.5 0.7 4.4 4.6 6.2 13.4 sd 6.1 4.6 10.4	cv 141.8 28.3 56.9 22.7 80.5 108.4 cv 82.3 50.3 104.1	sk 2.3 0.0 2.0 0.3 2.1 2.4 sk 6.3 1.5 1.9	$ k \\ \underline{6.1} \\ 0.0 \\ 4.3 \\ -2.1 \\ 4.7 \\ 5.5 \\ k \\ \underline{46.9} \\ 2.9 \\ 3.4 \\ $
Maj07 Maj06	category Acropora Favids Isopora Pocillopora Massive Porites P. rus category Acropora Favids Heliopora Isopora	n 84 2 7 6 7 32 n 69 34 37 16	mean 66.0 2.5 7.7 20.2 7.7 12.3 mean 7.4 9.2 10.0 12.2	sd 93.5 0.7 4.4 4.6 6.2 13.4 sd 6.1 4.6 10.4 9.4	cv 141.8 28.3 56.9 22.7 80.5 108.4 cv 82.3 50.3 104.1 77.2	sk <u>2.3</u> 0.0 2.0 0.3 2.1 <u>2.4</u> sk <u>6.3</u> 1.5 <u>1.9</u> 2.6	$ k \\ \underline{6.1} \\ 0.0 \\ 4.3 \\ -2.1 \\ 4.7 \\ \underline{5.5} \\ k \\ \underline{46.9} \\ 2.9 \\ \underline{3.4} \\ 7.9 \\ \end{cases} $
Maj07 Maj06	category Acropora Favids Isopora Pocillopora Massive Porites P. rus category Acropora Favids Heliopora Isopora Montipora	n 84 2 7 6 7 32 n 69 34 37 16 11	mean 66.0 2.5 7.7 20.2 7.7 12.3 mean 7.4 9.2 10.0 12.2 16.0	sd 93.5 0.7 4.4 4.6 6.2 13.4 sd 6.1 4.6 10.4 9.4 6.6	cv 141.8 28.3 56.9 22.7 80.5 108.4 cv 82.3 50.3 104.1 77.2 41.2	sk 2.3 0.0 2.0 0.3 2.1 2.4 sk 6.3 1.5 1.9 2.6 -0.6	$ k \\ \underline{6.1} \\ 0.0 \\ 4.3 \\ -2.1 \\ 4.7 \\ 5.5 \\ k \\ \underline{46.9} \\ 2.9 \\ \underline{3.4} \\ 7.9 \\ -0.8 \\ $
Maj07 Maj06	category Acropora Favids Isopora Pocillopora Massive Porites P. rus category Acropora Favids Heliopora Isopora Montipora Pocillopora	n 84 2 7 6 7 32 n 69 34 37 16 11 27	mean 66.0 2.5 7.7 20.2 7.7 12.3 mean 7.4 9.2 10.0 12.2 16.0 9.3	sd 93.5 0.7 4.4 4.6 6.2 13.4 sd 6.1 4.6 10.4 9.4 6.6 9.2	cv 141.8 28.3 56.9 22.7 80.5 108.4 cv 82.3 50.3 104.1 77.2 41.2 98.2	sk 2.3 0.0 2.0 0.3 2.1 2.4 sk 6.3 1.5 1.9 2.6 -0.6 2.5	$ k \\ \underline{6.1} \\ 0.0 \\ 4.3 \\ -2.1 \\ 4.7 \\ \underline{5.5} \\ k \\ \underline{46.9} \\ 2.9 \\ \underline{3.4} \\ 7.9 \\ -0.8 \\ \underline{7.2} \\ $

Maj08	category	n	mean	sd	cv	sk	k
	Acropora	79	7.6	4.5	59.6	<u>1.9</u>	<u>4.5</u>
	Favids	22	9.6	5.3	55.3	0.9	0.4
	Heliopora	159	15.5	15.0	97.0	<u>1.6</u>	<u>2.2</u>
	Isopora	2	6.5	0.7	10.9	0.0	0.0
	Montipora	2	7.0	1.4	20.2	0.0	0.0
	Pocillopora	25	9.1	7.5	82.2	<u>2.2</u>	<u>5.5</u>
	Massive Porites	20	26.6	28.0	105.2	2.0	4.2
	P. rus	7	25.3	19.5	77.0	2.1	4.8
Maj09	category	n	mean	sd	cv	sk	k
	Acropora	162	22.9	51.7	225.9	<u>4.6</u>	22.5
	Favids	81	10.0	6.6	66.4	<u>1.1</u>	0.3
	Isopora	13	9.8	6.0	61.9	1.2	0.5
	Montipora	11	15.5	6.6	42.3	0.3	-1.0
	Pocillopora	50	9.5	5.4	56.4	0.9	0.2
	Massive Porites	14	18.8	33.9	180.6	<u>3.6</u>	<u>13.0</u>
	P. rus	1	2.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
	category	n	mean	sd	cv	sk	k
	Acropora	28	8.9	4.0	45.3	0.7	-0.6
0	Favids	70	10	6.9	68.9	1.1	0.2
Maj1	Isopora	9	11.9	6.1	51.2	0.9	-0.7
	Montipora	11	15.5	6.6	42.3	0.3	-1.0
	Pocillopora	28	8.4	4.1	49.5	0.9	0.6
	Massive Porites	14	18.8	33.9	180.6	<u>3.6</u>	<u>13.0</u>
	category	n	mean	sd	cv	sk	k
Maj11	Acropora	7	6.6	2.8	42.9	0.0	-1.0
	Branching Porites	103	8.5	11.8	138.9	<u>4.8</u>	<u>27.4</u>
	P. rus	104	34.4	123.7	359.3	<u>7.9</u>	<u>69.3</u>

Appendix G Sea surface temperature statistics by site for the bleaching year, June 2014 through July 2015 (where SST is in degrees Celsius).

site	mean SST	SST sd	max DHW
Arn01	29.3693	0.5969	4.84
Arn02	29.3746	0.5985	5.14
Arn03	29.3854	0.5977	4.86
Arn04	29.3854	0.5977	4.86
Arn05	29.3746	0.5985	5.14
Arn06	29.3636	0.5886	4.03
Arn07	29.3636	0.5886	4.03
Arn08	29.3751	0.5950	4.52
Arn09	29.3473	0.5984	4.68
Arn10	29.3598	0.6029	5.28
Arn11	29.3385	0.5967	4.39
Arn12	29.3264	0.5956	4.24
Arn13	29.3219	0.5965	4.21
Maj01	29.3983	0.6125	5.55
Maj02	29.3822	0.5970	4.54
Maj03	49.3805	0.5906	4.39
Maj04	29.3834	0.6078	4.16
Maj05	29.3910	0.6113	4.68
Maj06	29.3680	0.6070	4.55
Maj07	29.4124	0.6058	5.37
Maj08	29.4019	0.6114	5.04
Maj09	29.3688	0.5891	4.52
Maj10	29.3678	0.5934	4.23
Maj11	29.3678	0.5934	4.23
Maj12	29.3815	0.5864	4.26